
For requests for further information 
Contact: Sam Jones 
Tel: 01270 686643 
E-Mail: samuel.jones@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies 

 
 

Strategic Planning Board 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Tuesday, 10th September, 2024 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Council Chamber, Municipal Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe 
CW1 2BJ 

 
 

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to the Council’s website 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence from Members. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary interests, other registerable interests, and non-registerable interests in any 
item on the agenda and for Members to declare if they have a pre-determination in 
respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2024 as a correct record. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:Samuel.jones@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Public Speaking   
 
 A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 

following: 
 

 Ward Councillors who are not members of the Strategic Planning Board 

 The relevant Town/Parish Council 
 
A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following individuals/groups: 
 

 Members who are not members of the Strategic Planning Board and are not 
the Ward Member 

 Objectors 

 Supporters 

 Applicants 
 

5. 22/1447N - Land adjoining Old Park Road, Weston Road, Main Road and the 
B5472, Near Stowford, Crewe (Pages 9 - 74) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
6. Exclusion of the Press and Public   
 
 The reports relating to the remaining items on the agenda have been withheld from 

public circulation and deposit pursuant to Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that the matters may be determined with the press and 
public excluded.  
 
The Committee may decide that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 and public interest would not be served in publishing the 
information. 
 

PART 2 - MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITHOUT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
PRESENT 
 
7. Appeal: Planning Application 21/3100M Land East of Longridge, Knutsford 

(Pages 75 - 80) 
 
 To consider the recommendations within the appeal report.  
 
Membership:  Councillors R Bailey, S Edgar, M Edwards, S Gardiner (Vice-Chair), 
M Gorman, T Jackson, G Marshall, H Moss, B Puddicombe (Chair), H Seddon and 
L Smetham 
 
 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Strategic Planning Board 
held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 in the The Capesthorne Room - Town 

Hall, Macclesfield SK10 1EA 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor B Puddicombe (Chair) 
Councillor S Gardiner (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors R Bailey, S Edgar, K Edwards, M Gorman, T Jackson, G Marshall, 
H Moss, L Smetham and L Braithwaite 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
 
David Malcolm, Head of Planning 
Daniel Evans, Principal Planning Officer  
Paul Griffiths, Major Projects Officer 
James Thomas, Senior Planning and Highways Lawyer 
Sam Jones, Democratic Services Officer 

 
18 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bratherton. 
Councillor Braithwaite was present on their behalf. 
 

19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION  
 
In the interest of openness the following declarations were made:  
 
Councillor Gardiner declared that, in relation to application 23/2713C, he 
had known of public speaker Jon Suckley for many years, but had not 
spoken to him about the application, or at the meeting. 
 
Councillor Gorman declared that, during the break in the Strategic 
Planning Board meeting from 11:40 – 11:50, he had a conversation with 
Ward Councillor Corcoran, who attended the Strategic Planning Board 
meeting as a public speaker for application 23/4600C, but they did not 
discuss the application which was to be heard following the break. 
 

20 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2024 be approved as a 
correct record. 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



21 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The public speaking procedure was noted. 
 

22 23/2713C - LAND NORTH OF THE CONGLETON LINK ROAD (‘CLR’) 
KNOWN AS SOMERFORD GREEN, CONGLETON  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
 
Agent / Applicant: Jon Suckley 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
For the reasons set out in the report, and the update report, the application 
be APPROVED as RECOMMENDED, DELEGATED TO Head of Planning 
in consultation with Strategic Planning Board Chair to approve subject to a 
Deed of Variation to the original Section 106 agreement, conditions and 
informatives as set out in the report and the update report, and additional 
conditions: 
 
S106 Deed of Variation to include reference to pedestrian crossing of CLR 
and improvements Back Lane and Somerford Lane. 
 
Conditions 
 
1. Approved plans 
2. Implementation of badger mitigation measures 
3. Safeguarding of Nesting Birds 
4. Ecological enhancement -bat and bird boxes etc. 
5. Prior to the commencement of development the consented development 
is to be entered into Natural England’s District Licensing Scheme for Great 
Crested Newts. 
6. Implementation of Landscape Management Plan for 30 year period. 
7. Public Rights of Way scheme of management 
8. Non standard - Tree protection and special construction measures  
9. Tree levels survey 
10. Detailed design, including drainage and levels for the NEAP 
11. Details of artwork to be improved 
12. Boundary Treatment –fields to the northern and western boundary 
includes hedgerows to be planted in the first planting season after 
commencement of development 
13. Details of drainage to be agreed prior to commencement 
14. Notwithstanding details on approved plan, a footpath link be provided 
across the POS to the south to link to crossing 

Page 4



15. Revised layout to confirm new affordable units and updated to house 
types  
16. Confirmation of s278 for widening of access (in accordance with plans) 
 
Informatives  
 

 NPPF 

 PROW 

 Environmental Protection 
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of 
Planning has delegated authority to do so in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Strategic Planning Board, provided that the changes 
do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 
It was requested that the S106 Working Group discuss issues surrounding 
S106 management agreements, in connection with Chair and Vice Chair 
of Strategic Planning Board. 
 

23 23/4600C - LAND SOUTH OF, OLD MILL ROAD, SANDBACH  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
 
Ward Councillor: Councillor Sam Corcoran 
 
Supporters: Matthias Bunte, Lance Thackray 
 
Agent / Applicant: Steve Bourne 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
For the reasons set out in the report, and the update report, the application 
be APPROVED as RECOMMENDED, subject to a S106 Agreement with 
the following Heads of Terms: 
 

S106 Amount Triggers 

Affordable 
Housing 
 

Affordable housing In accordance with details 
to be submitted and 
approved. 

Page 5



Amenity Green 
Space and Play 
Provision 
 

On site provision of Open 
Space and a LEAP. 
 
Scheme of Management 
to be submitted and 
approved 

Shall be provided prior to 
the first occupation of 30% 
of the dwellings on the site. 

Outdoor Sports 
Contribution 

£74,000  To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 50th 
dwelling 

NHS £110,196 To be paid prior to the first 
occupation of the 30th 
dwelling 

Education £173,540.64 (Primary), 
£212,455.00 (Secondary) 
£45,500 (SEN) 

- Primary to be provided 
prior to first occupation of 
the 15th dwelling 
- Secondary to be provided 
prior to first occupation 
- SEN to be paid prior to 
the first occupation of the 
15th dwelling 

 
And the conditions set out in the report, and additional conditions: 
 
1. Standard Outline 1 
2. Standard Outline 2 
3. Standard Outline 3 
4. Approved Plans 
5. At least 30% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply 
with the requirements of M4(2) Category 2 of the Building Regulations 
regarding accessible and adaptable dwellings. 
6. At least 6% of the dwellings in housing developments should comply 
with the requirement m4 (3)(2)(a) Category 3 of the Building Regulations 
regarding wheelchair adaptable dwellings. 
7. Implementation of the acoustic mitigation identified within noise report 
8. Provision of a travel plan 
9. Low emission boiler provision 
10. Phase II Contaminated Land report to be provided 
11. Contaminated land verification  
12. Contaminated land – importation of soil 
13. Contaminated land – unexpected contaminated land 
14. Construction Management Plan to be submitted and approved 
15. Materials to be submitted and approved 
16. Cycle parking provision to be submitted and approved 
17. Submission and approval of a tree protection scheme and 
Arboricultural Method Statement 
18. The development shall proceed with the recommendations of the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (Bats) 
19. Hedgehog mitigation (gaps in boundary fences) 
20. Submission and approval of a Construction Environment Management 
Plan 

Page 6



21. Updated survey for other protected species prior to the 
commencement of development 
22. Nesting birds – timing of works 
23. BNG – submission of detailed habitat creation, monitoring and 
management plan. 
24. Lighting to be submitted and approved. 
25. Ecological Enhancement Strategy to be submitted and approved. 
26. Submission and approval of a drainage strategy. 
27. SuDS provision. 
28. 10% of energy needs to be from renewable or low carbon energy. 
29. The Reserved Matters application shall include details of footpath link 
to the north of footpaths 18, 19 and 50 within the boundary of the site. 
30. Details of a private amenity space for apartments (plots 58-61). 
 
Should the application be the subject of an appeal, approval is given to 
enter into a S106 Agreement with the following Heads of Terms: 
 

S106 Amount Triggers 

Affordable 
Housing 
 

Affordable housing In accordance with details to be 
submitted and approved. 

Amenity Green 
Space and Play 
Provision 
 

On site provision of 
Open Space and a 
LEAP. 
 
Scheme of 
Management to be 
submitted and 
approved 

Shall be provided prior to the 
first occupation of 30% of the 
dwellings on the site. 

Outdoor Sports 
Contribution 

£74,000  To be paid prior to the 
occupation of the 50th dwelling 

NHS £110,196 To be paid prior to the first 
occupation of the 30th dwelling 

Education £173,540.64 (Primary), 
£212,455.00 
(Secondary) £45,500 
(SEN) 

- Primary to be provided prior to 
first occupation of the 15th 
dwelling 
- Secondary to be provided prior 
to first occupation 
- SEN to be paid prior to the first 
occupation of the 15th dwelling 

 
In order to give proper effect to the Committee`s intent and without 
changing the substance of its decision, authority is delegated to the Head 
of Planning in consultation with the Chair of the Strategic Planning Board 
(or in their absence the Vice Chair) to correct any technical slip or 
omission in the resolution, before issue of the decision notice. 
 

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 12.26 pm 
Councillor B Puddicombe (Chair) 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
OFFICIAL 

 
   Application No: 22/1447N 

 
   Location: Land adjoining Old Park Road, Weston Road, Main Road and the B5472, 

Near Stowford, Crewe 
 

   Proposal: Outline planning application with all matters reserved for future 
determination, save for four of the means of access (one on to Main Road, 
one on to the B5472 and two on to Old Park Road) for: up to 650 dwellings, 
a village centre, site access and highway works, associated infrastructure, 
green infrastructure including sustainable drainage, ecological habitats, 
children’s play areas, woodland, amenity green space and food growing 
area. (Access) 
 

   Applicant: 
 

Kate McClean, Bloor Homes North West 

   Expiry Date: 
 

30-Aug-2023 

 

SUMMARY 
  
This outline application proposes the creation of the South Cheshire Growth Village to deliver 
a sustainable settlement of up to 650 dwellings incorporating a mixed-use village centre located 
on a greenfield site close to the south-eastern edge of Crewe and adjacent to Crewe Hall and 
its registered Historic Park and Garden (grade 2).  It is proposed that a distinctive and high 
quality housing scheme in the form of an “estate" village is sited within an attractive parkland 
setting in line with the requirements of Local Plan allocation Policy LPS 8.    
 
Policy LPS 8 emphasises the need to incorporate green infrastructure with specific landscape 
mitigation and parkland restoration in accordance with the Heritage Impact Assessment (CEC 
2016) to minimise the visual impact of the development on heritage assets.  Whilst the scheme 
would lead to some harm to heritage assets, proposed mitigation and design coding already 
provided demonstrates that the framework for the development accords with the Heritage 
Impact Assessment and requirements of Policy LPS8 to offset that harm. In particular, elements 
of the landscape restoration also constitute public benefit. 
  
Detailed assessments of the urban design and landscape/visual impact of the development 
have been made and although these matters will need to be considered in more detail, an 
acceptable framework is in place to further enhance the scheme at the reserved matters stage, 
including the requirement for detailed design coding which is subject to conditions.  The outline 
proposals are therefore supported in design terms. 
 
The impact on the wider highway network from the proposed development will be mitigated 
through financial contributions for improvements to Meremoor Moss roundabout (or within the 
A500 corridor) and alterations to the University Way/Weston Road roundabout.  
 
A suite of indicative drawings and technical information has also been submitted of highway 
improvements to reduce the desirability of the new village as a through-route and reduce traffic 
speed. This has established the principles of a package of measures which ensure that an 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



 
OFFICIAL 

acceptable scheme is achievable in highway terms, although the detailed design of highway 
alterations will also need to take account of urban design and place making objectives at the 
reserved matters stage.    
 
A contribution to bus services will also be secured and the proposals will importantly ensure 
the provision of sustainable pedestrian/cycle link to connect through to the Basford East 
strategic allocation facilitated by the delivery of proposed signals at Main Road/Weston Road. 
No objections on highways subject to conditions and substantial section 106 contributions.  
  
No objections are raised in relation to flood risk/drainage, subject to conditions including the 
submission of the detailed drainage strategy and emphasis in making the most of Sustainable 
Urban Drainage in the detailed design for the scheme. 
 
Ecological issues have been satisfactorily addressed particularly in respect to safeguarding 
habitat, protected species, the provision of on-site ecological mitigation areas and delivery of 
biodiversity net gain subject to a series of planning conditions being imposed. Tree and 
hedgerow losses have been accepted and would be mitigated in the proposed landscaping of 
the site and through off-site habitat creation to achieve biodiversity net gain.   
 
Given the location of residential parcels and the provision of significant areas of intervening 
planting/landscaping the required separation distances will be achieved between the 
development and existing properties. The amenities of existing residents will not be 
detrimentally affected in terms of overbearing impact loss of outlook or privacy, nor because of 
noise/disturbance from road traffic movements.        
 
Issues relating to noise, air quality, contaminated land and public rights of way have been 
addressed and are subject to conditions where necessary. 
 
To satisfactorily address the impact on local services/facilities, substantial contributions to 
education, healthcare provision and indoor/outdoor sport will be secured through a s106 
agreement.  
 
The delivery of this large and complex development will be required to be undertaken in 
accordance with a detailed phasing plan. This will ensure that amongst other requirements, the 
provision of green infrastructure, heritage mitigation/planting, pedestrian route to Basford East, 
open space, play facilities, wildlife mitigation and drainage/SuDs are delivered at appropriate 
stages of the scheme.      
 
On this basis, the proposal is for sustainable development which would bring environmental, 
economic and social benefits and is therefore considered to be acceptable in the context of the 
relevant policies of the adopted Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy, the Site Allocations 
Development Polices Document and the NPPF. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

APPROVE, Subject to the notification of the Secretary of State, the completion of 
Section 106 Agreement and conditions. 

 

Page 10



 
OFFICIAL 

SITE DESCRIPTION  

The application site (39.2 ha) is located about 1km from the south eastern edge of Crewe and 
adjoins the B5472, Weston Road, Main Road and Old Park Road.  This large, greenfield site is 
broadly flat agricultural land in arable use and for pasture, but also includes areas of woodland 
and field boundary hedgerows.  
 
The employment area of Crewe Hall Farm abuts the Site's northern boundary.  Crewe Hall     
Enterprise Park also lies to the north and accessed from driveways ways off Old Park Road        
The site is bisected by the Crewe-Derby railway line. To the south of the site lies open countryside 
beyond which is the A500 and village of Weston.  Woodland and Englesea Brook lie beyond the 
eastern site boundary.     
 
The site is located to the south/south-east of Crewe Hall and its registered Historic Park and 
Garden (grade 2).   Aside from Crewe Hall (grade I) and entrance lodge/screen (grade II), other 
listed buildings are in close proximity to the site at Stowford (grade II) and Crewe Hall Farm (grade 
II).   In addition, the site lies to the east of Holly Hedge Farmhouse (grade II*) located to the south 
of the railway (grade II*) and fronting onto Main Road.  
  
Public Rights of Way (PROW) Weston FP10 and FP16 run north/south across the site.  FP10 
runs through the western side of the site and crosses the railway line via a level crossing and the 
up to Weston Road.  FP16 runs across the easternmost side of the site, also crosses the railway 
by a level crossing and then connects to Old Park Road.        
 
The vast majority of the application site lies within Flood Zone 1 which has the least risk of 
flooding.  A very small area located within the northeastern part of the site is located within flood 
zones 2 and 3 associated with Englesea Brook. 
 
In terms of the wider site context, the south-western site boundary adjoins the Basford East 
strategic site (CELPS Allocation LPS 2). The approved development (19/5934N) within this part 
of Basford East incorporates an east/west pedestrian/cycle greenway route which will run 
between South Cheshire Growth Village and David Whitby Way.  This will connect to new facilities 
including the future primary school and elsewhere within Basford East.    
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This is an outline application relating to a strategic site allocated within the Cheshire East Local 
Plan Strategy (LPS 8 South Cheshire Growth Village, South East Crewe).  The key elements of 
the proposals include;       
    

 Up to 650 new homes including 30% affordable housing within an “estate” village Restoration 

of the historic parkland landscape and heritage mitigation planting   Mixed-use village centre 

providing a market square, community facilities and local retail up to 1,000m2 gross floor 

space comprising Use Classes E and F2 (500m2 for shops and 500m2 for other community 

uses). 

 Walking and cycling routes, including connection to a new footway and cycle link serving the 

Basford East Strategic site LPS2 

 Landscaping including woodland planting and buffer to the southern edge of the site 

Page 11



 
OFFICIAL 

 Open amenity green space/POS, children’s play, allotments, community orchards and wildlife 

areas 

 New habitat creation to deliver biodiversity net gain. 

 Illustrative highway proposals to establish the principle of measures required to reduce traffic 

speeds and traffic management 

 Proposed closure of the railway level crossings and diversion of public footpaths FP10 and 

FP16.     

 
Notwithstanding the elements listed above, this is an outline application with all matters reserved 
for subsequent approval, other than four specified accesses serving housing parcels from Main 
Road (1), B5472 (1) and Old Park Road (2).   
 
All other matters regarding detailed design, such as appearance, layout, scale and landscaping 
are reserved for consideration at a later date although an indicative masterplan and supporting 
information has been provided with this application to illustrate how the new village can be 
delivered in this sensitive location.  In particular, Supplementary Design Information has been 
provided to illustrate the remodeling and de-engineering of the existing Weston Road, B5472 and 
Old Park Road roundabout junction to serve the village centre with the objective of creating a 
high-quality public realm, manage vehicle use effectively and enable a sense of place and 
distinctive village character to be achieved at the heart of the development.   
 
An Environmental Statement (ES) has been submitted with the application, and the following key 
documents/plans also accompany the application: 
 

 Masterplan (illustrative only)   

 Land Use Parameters Plan  

 Building Heights and Density Parameters Plan  

 Detailed Access plans for approval (4 access points)  

 Design and Access Statement (DAS) and Spatial Code   

 Supplementary Design Information (DAS) 

 Suite of illustrative highway drawings     

 Heritage Impact Assessment  

 Sports Needs Assessment 
 
The proposed development will comprise seven main development parcels as shown on the Land 

Use Parameter Plan and located as follows:  

 Two northern parcels (N1 and N2) to west and east of the access to Crewe Hall Farm north 
of Old Park Road; 

 Central parcel (C), bounded by Old Park Road to the north, Weston Road to the south and 
Stowford to the west; 

 Eastern Parcel (E) south of Old Park Road, north of the Crewe-Derby railway line 

 Southern Parcel (S) west of the B5472 

 Western Parcels (W1 and W2) to west of Main Road, with W1 north of the rail line and W2 to 
the south. 
 

Page 12



 
OFFICIAL 

The planning application red line boundary is not fully consistent with the defined boundary of 
CELPS allocation LPS 8. This is primarily due to additional areas being required to accommodate 
green infrastructure such as landscape buffer planting to the southern edge of the site and, 
landscape restoration within the Historic Park, additional shelter belt planting and habitat 
enhancement.  All built development as shown on the parameters plans lies fully within the 
allocation boundary. 
 
In addition, the Green Belt ‘wedge’ area of LPS 8 defined as “protected open space is not   
included within the application site given the proposed provision for sports pitches and 
recreational facilities generated by the development are proposed off-site as set out by the 
submitted Sports Needs Assessment.      
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The application site itself has little planning history but lies within the environs of Crewe Hall and 
the Enterprise Park which do have an extensive planning history. However, this is not considered 
relevant to this application.   
 
With respect to the site itself   
 
20/3742S - EIA Scoping Opinion for Environmental Impact Assessment.  Issued 28-May-2020 
 
POLICIES 
 
Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS)  
 
LPS 8 South Cheshire Growth Village, South East Crewe  
MP 1   Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
PG 1   Overall Development Strategy 
PG 2   Settlement Hierarchy 
PG 5   Strategic Green Gaps  
PG 6   Open Countryside      
PG 7   Spatial Distribution of Development 
SD 1   Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 
SD 2   Sustainable Development Principles 
IN 1     Infrastructure 
IN 2     Developer Contributions 
EG 1    Economic Prosperity 
SC 1    Leisure and Recreation 
SC 2    Indoor and Outdoor Sports Facilities 
SC 3    Health and Well-Being 
SC 4    Residential Mix 
SC 5    Affordable Homes 
SE 1    Design 
SE 2    Efficient Use of Land 
SE 3    Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SE 4    The Landscape 
SE 5    Trees, Hedgerows and woodland 
SE 6    Green Infrastructure 

Page 13



 
OFFICIAL 

SE 7    The Historic Environment 
SE 8    Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
SE 9    Energy Efficient Development 
SE 12 Pollution, Land Contamination and Land instability   
  
SE 13 Flood Risk and Water Management 
CO 1 Sustainable Travel and Transport 
CO 2   Enabling Business Growth Through Transport Infrastructure 
CO 4   Travel Plans and Transport Assessments 
 
Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) 
 
PG 12 Strategic Green Gap Boundaries   
GEN 1 Design principles 
GEN 4 Recovery of forward funded infrastructure costs 
ENV 1 Ecological network 
ENV 2 Ecological implementation 
ENV 3 Landscape character 
ENV 4 River Corridors   
ENV 5 Landscaping 
ENV 6 Trees, hedgerows and woodland implementation 
ENV 7 Climate change 
ENV 8 District heating network priority areas 
ENV 10 Solar energy 
ENV 12 Air quality 
ENV 15 New development and existing uses 
ENV 16 Surface water management and flood risk 
ENV 17 Protecting water resources 
HER 1 Heritage assets 
HER 4 Listed buildings 
HER 5 Registered Parks and gardens   
HER 8 Archaeology 
RUR 5 Best and most versatile agricultural land   
HOU 1 Housing mix 
HOU 2 Specialist housing provision 
HOU 3 Self and custom build dwellings 
HOU 8 Space, accessibility and wheelchair housing standards 
HOU 12 Amenity 
HOU 13 Residential standards 
HOU 14 Housing density 
HOU 15 Housing delivery 
RET 5 Restaurants, cafés, pubs and hot food takeaways 
INF 1 Cycleways, bridleways and footpaths 
INF 3 Highway safety and access 
INF 6 Protection of existing and proposed infrastructure 
INF 8 Telecommunications infrastructure 
INF 9 Utilities 
REC 1 Open space protection 
REC 2 Indoor sport and recreation implementation 

Page 14



 
OFFICIAL 

REC 3 Open space implementation 
REC 4 Day nurseries 
REC 5 Community facilities 
 
Weston and Basford Neighbourhood Plan 2015 - 2030  
- Modified plan made on 20th February 2024  
 
However, the Modified Neighbourhood Plan states that” For the avoidance of doubt, the policies 
in the Plan do not cover the land at the major allocations at Basford West, Basford East and 
South Cheshire Growth Village.” 
  
Other Material Considerations 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) 
Cheshire East Design Guide  
Adopted SPDs 
 
CONSULTATIONS  
 
Natural England - No Objection subject to appropriate mitigation being secured to protect on-
site and wider peat mass and features of Sandbach Flashes Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI).  Conditions are recommended for the submission of a detailed drainage strategy which 
prevents the loss or degradation of restorable peat and also a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan to address potential impacts on bird species of Sandbach Flashes SSSI and 
supporting habitat.   

 
Historic England – No objection to the application on heritage grounds, as it is considered that 
the application is based on the parameters and mitigation measures set out in this allocation (LPS 
8).     

 
The Gardens Trust – Object. Considers that the application will undoubtedly cause harm to the 
Crewe Hall Registered Park and Garden (Grade 2).  The Gardens Trust are “saddened and 
disappointed that Cheshire East has failed to sufficiently value and protect the heritage value of 
Crewe Hall’s RPG. It will forever harm the setting and significance of the RPG”.  

 
Environment Agency – No objection in principle subject to conditions.   

 
Sport England - Object. The development would create a need for a contribution toward the 
provision of sports facilities which should be secured through a S106 Agreement.  The type, size, 
location and costs of sports provision should be informed by a Sports Strategy.  The proposal 
makes no contributions to formal sports facilities, indoor or outdoor sport.  (A Sports Need 
Assessment has since been submitted by the applicant satisfactory evidencing the necessary 
provision of of-site sport outdoor recreational provision and the financial contribution to be 
secured through a S106 Agreement as set out in the report below.)        

 
United Utilities - No objection subject to conditions requiring the submission of a phasing plan 
for the development, a Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy for the entire site, and a 
detailed Foul and Surface Water Drainage Scheme for each phase of the development.     

Page 15



 
OFFICIAL 

 
Network Rail - Object.  The development will have an unacceptable impact on risk (including a 
change in the character and volume of user) on Stowford No.1 and Stowford No.2 Level 
Crossings through the increased use of public footpaths Weston FP10 and FP16 .  To address 
these concerns the level crossings are required to be permanently closed and the necessary 
footpath diversionary routes completed prior to new dwellings being occupied.  

 
NHS CCG - No objections, subject to a financial contribution to improve primary Healthcare 
provision in Crewe being secured by a S106 Agreement.    

 
Cheshire Wildlife Trust (CwT) - Holding Objection.  Additional supporting information 
requested in respect of details for the proposed delivery of Biodiversity net gain.  (The requested 
BNG details have been forwarded to CwT but no further response has been received)  
 
Cheshire Archaeology Planning Advisory Service - No objection subject to a condition 
requiring the submission and approval of a written scheme of archaeological investigation and a 
programme for post-excavation assessment.   

 
Housing - No objection, subject to a Section 106 Agreement securing the policy compliant level 
and form of affordable housing. 

 
Education - No objection subject to a financial contribution towards Primary, Secondary & SEN 
Education beings secured by a S106 Agreement.  

  
Environmental Protection - No objection. The submitted odour assessment is considered 
acceptable. Conditions are recommended for the remediation of contamination.  Implementation 
of noise mitigation measures in accordance with the acoustic report, the provision of electric 
vehicle infrastructure and use of Ultra Low Emission Boilers.  Standard informatives relating to 
hours of construction, piling and dust management.  

 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) - No objection in principle to the development subject to 
conditions requiring full details of the drainage strategy, details of proposed attenuation pond(s) 
and basins and a CCTV survey of the existing drainage network. 

 
    Public Rights of Way - No objection in principle subject to a condition being attached    
     requiring the submission of a Public Rights of Way scheme of management. 
 

Indoor Sport – No objection subject to a Section 106 contribution toward indoor sports facilities 
at Crewe Lifestyle Centre and Shavington Leisure Centre.        

 
ANSA Public Open Space/outdoor sport - No objection subject to a financial contribution 
towards off-site sports facilities and a management company to maintain all on-site open space 
being secured by a S106 Agreement.  Conditions are also recommnded requiured  the  
submission of Strategic Green Infrastructure and Landscape Strategy and a management plan 
for all areas of POS and landscaping.   

 
HS2 Ltd:  No objection. Although the red line location plan boundary falls adjacent to land 
safeguarded for Phase 2b of HS2, the High Speed Rail between Birmingham and Manchester 
(HS2 Phase 2)  has been cancelled.    

Page 16



 
OFFICIAL 

 
CEC Highways - No objection subject to conditions being attached and financial contributions 
for off-site highway improvements being secured through a S106 Agreement and conditions.  
(Detailed comments have been provided and are addressed in the report below)    

 
National Highways - No objection but recommends that a condition is applied in relation to 
providing a travel plan for the site. 

 
VIEW OF THE PARISH COUNCIL   

Weston and Crewe Green Parish Council:  Amended observations received in May 2024.  

Whilst the Parish Council accepts the principle of this scheme which forms a Strategic 

Development Proposal in the approved Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy, it raises the following 

issues and concerns;     

 -  Off-site infrastructure and mitigation measures along with access configuration from Weston 

Road into Main Road Weston has been redesigned as follows, 

 

“40MPH speed limit along Weston Road right up to David Whitby Way / University Way 

roundabout along with an extended central refuse outside Crewe Hall to assist right turning traffic. 

Partial 40MPH speed limit along the B5472 towards Meremoor Moss roundabout. Remodelling 

of roundabouts at junctions of Weston Road and David Whitby /University Way, Weston Road 

and the B5472, and the A500 junction at Meremoor Moss. 2 sets of traffic signals, one set at the 

junction with Weston Road and Main Road, and another set either side of the railway bridge over 

Main Road. A shuttle system will be introduced over the railway bridge. Main Road will be made 

one way at this point to facilitate pedestrian/safe routes to school access. A partial extended 

speed limit along Main Road towards Weston Village. The traffic modelling resulting in these 

proposals has been based on the performance of the network in 2030 with and without the 

dualling of the A500. / M6 Junction 16 link”.   

 

The Parish Council fully supports these suggested speed limits.  

 

Notwithstanding this, protection of the whole length of Main Road Weston is required from the 

Weston Hall roundabout with the A531 to the junction with Weston Road to prevent both through 

and rat running traffic. 

-  Evidence is required that  minimal queues of traffic will build up at peak times on either side of 

the proposed shuttle system and that this can be achieved in practice.     

-  The Parish Council considers that the applicant’s proposals need to be supplemented by a 

strict 30 MPH speed limit along the whole length of Main Road along with a 7.5 tonne weight limit 

and measures to prevent through traffic entering Main Road at the Weston Hall junction with the 

A531. The proposals only cater for a partial speed limit along Main Road. The Parish Council 

notes that there are additional current schemes, notably the proposed Cheshire East ‘A500 

Crewe Station Access Corridor’ which also have a direct bearing on Weston and should in our 

view contribute to the protection of Main Road to prevent rat running and through traffic. 

-  traffic mitigation measures required to be introduced along Old Park Road to deter rat running 

through Crewe Green. 

Page 17



 
OFFICIAL 

-  Management of HGV traffic flows from the Crewe Hall Industrial Estate onto the primary road 
network.  “Firstly, access along Weston Road onto David Whitby Way and potential conflict with 
the Basford East Development (Wimpey, former Onward Homes site, School, Community 
facilities, Muse etc.). All are of serious concern. Secondly assurances must be given, and the 
scheme designed to prevent HGVs from entering and exiting the Crewe Hall Industrial Estate 
through the proposed new Village.” 
-  Attenuation of noise and smell required from the Crewe Hall Industrial Estate to protect 
amenities of housing   
-  Concerns raised regarding the measures to protect and enhance the setting of Stowford (5 

Listed Buildings), Holly Hedge Farm (Grade II* Listed), and Crewe Hall Farm (3 Listed Buildings). 

The planting and landscaping to protect these assets needs to be dense and semi mature to 

ensure that it sits in the landscape and not on the landscape.  

 -  Southern landscaped buffer separating the proposed development south of the railway and 

west of Main Road from the Strategic Green Gap running down to the A500 Shavington bypass. 

A firmly defined boundary is require to be established to prevent future development creeping 

towards the bypass 

 - All structure planting, bunding and landscaping needs to be established well before 

development commences.  

  - A detailed ongoing maintenance scheme for all the open space areas within the development 

needs to be agreed before any permission is granted.  

-   Pedestrian Access routes /safe routes to school. The Parish Council considers that, “These 

seem to be adequately provided for – priority access across railway bridge on Main Road, pelican 

crossings etc. at road junctions along with speed limits. The safe route to the proposed primary 

school abutting the former Onward Homes site adjacent to David Whitby Way needs to be defined 

in detail along with lighting proposals. The details of pedestrian routes within the development 

are we understand likely to be resolved at reserved matters stage”. 

-  Sensitive use of materials to follow CEC and National Design Guide recommendations and 

considered particularly important in relation to the treatment of the shuttle system / pedestrian 

access around the Main Road Railway bridge and entry point into Weston Village. 

- Design of Village Centre has been improved in terms of creating a more intimate, inviting, and 

user-friendly space attractive to wander around, albeit that some of this will still be 3 storey. 

-  Need for local shops to be provided within the Village Centre.  

-  The proposed residential parking standards within development need to be increased to prevent 

on street car parking and congestion 

-  More evidence needs to be demonstrated and greater detail provided as regards. 

Biodiversity and Climate Change.   

-  Need for local Health Centre and funding required secured by a S106 Agreement. 

-  Requirement for community liaison Group to be established (A planning condition  is 

recommended to secure this)  

 
REPRESENTATIONS  
 
A total of three representations have been received.    
 
An objection has been received from the neighbouring property at Holly Hedge Farm raising the 
following concerns;      
 

Page 18



 
OFFICIAL 

- The proposal will conjoin Weston with Crewe and Stowford resulting in urban sprawl contrary to 
planning policy   
- Development on the Western side of Main Road and to the South of the Railway, would cause 
urban sprawl and set precedent for more development. 
- The proposed site access opposite Holly hedge Farm will result in increased traffic and 
congestion along Main Road       
-  Detrimental impact to Holly Hedge Farm due to increased traffic noise, air and light pollution 
from queueing traffic    
- Adverse impact on highway safety from positioning of proposed accesses on narrow sections 
of Main Road either side of railway bridge due to dangerous pedestrian footway and inadequate 
visibility in both directions. 
 - If the railway bridge becomes single carriageway, this would cause excessive traffic queues 
and accidents outside Holly Hedge Farm and further down Main Road and Weston Road.   
- Impair use of driveway serving Holly Hedge Farm  
- Adverse impact of development on bat roost, Greater Crested Newts, other protected species 
and wildlife habitat. 
   
-  The development will exacerbate existing flooding and drainage problems experienced at Holly 
Hedge farm and on the railway line . 
- Adverse impact on electricity supply, internet services and water supply.  . 
- development will severely affect the setting of Grade II * Listed timber framed building. (Holly 
Hedge Farm) 
 
Two sets of comments have been received from a local resident and summarised follows;    
-  Although the site is allocated within the Local Plan, and principle of development has been 
established. Section 106 contributions should be sought to improve sustainable travel within the 
area and reduce the demand on the highway network 
-  A S106 contribution should be secured for the installation and maintenance of   bus stops within 
the site (Market Square in the Village Centre core) and for bus services to be provided,  
-  S106 contributions are required for the provision of regular bus services to be provided to/from 
Crewe Bus Station with also southbound services towards Alsager, Hanley or Newcastle.   
 -  Main roads through the development should incorporate an off-road pedestrian and cycle 
corridor to promote sustainable travel.  
- All homes should have secure cycle parking, whilst the village centre should include secure long 
stay and Sheffield stand short stay parking.  
- Section 106 contributions should be sought to also allow a segregated pedestrian/cycle route 
along full length of Weston Road to promote active travel, in addition to street lighting along 
Weston Road. The cycle route can then connect onto the core town centre and railway station 
cycle/pedestrian connectivity plans. 
-  Cheshire East Council should consider working with developer and  Network Rail  to provide a 
railway station On the Crewe-Stoke line to serve this  large  development and local communities 
in Weston  
-  Development should be as energy efficient as possible with buildings incorporating solar panels 
and provision of electric car charging points.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
OFFICIAL 

APPRAISAL 
 
Principle of development   
 
The site is allocated as site LPS 8 in the Local Plan Strategy to deliver a high-quality residential 
environment, within an attractive setting, in close proximity to Crewe and to the M6 motorway.  
 
The allocation proposes a new sustainable village to provide distinctive new housing in a high-
quality landscape setting.  Existing woodland and vernacular estate architecture sets the tone for 
the creation of a new residential community.   
 
Policy LPS  8 sets  out the detailed development plan policy for the site and states that 
 
“A new sustainable settlement will be delivered over the Local Plan Strategy period. This will be 
achieved through: 
 
1. The delivery of around 650 new homes. The density and scale of the development should 
reflect the sensitivities and relationships of different parts of the site and should be directly 
informed by a detailed heritage impact assessment that will inform and shape a development 
brief, masterplan and design code for the site. This should have special regard to the relationship 
to heritage assets and their settings and their collective character and significance and what this 
rich heritage context contributes to the character of the site and to its wider setting; 
2. The provision of a new mixed-use local (village) centre, with a range of uses, including: 

i. Appropriate retail provision to meet local needs; 
ii. Community meeting facility and a new village square and enhanced public realm 
elsewhere; 
iii. Sports and leisure facilities; 

3. The provision of open space including sports pitches, multi-use games area, outdoor gym, 
equipped children's play space and facilities for teenagers; 
4. The provision of pedestrian and cycle links to the new primary school and wider adjacent 
Basford East site; 
5. The creation of wildlife habitats, including those for protected species in accordance with 
detailed ecological assessments and management proposals; and 
6. The incorporation of the following green infrastructure: 

i. In the area to the south of Old Park Road (outside the historic parkland of Crewe Hall), 
retention and/or creation of hedgerow boundaries with native woodland tree species and 
associated landscaping along all site boundaries on routes into the site and 
alongside the railway corridor and for all boundaries adjacent or in proximity to heritage 
assets (where those are appropriate to the setting of the heritage assets) to offset 
detrimental visual impact to the open countryside and the setting of designated heritage 
assets; 
ii. Parkland restoration to the north of Old Park Road in the historic parkland of Crewe 
Hall (including the registered park and garden) would include the retention and 
restoration of the shelterbelt, clumps of trees and other parkland features; 
iii. Additionally, the retention, where possible, of hedgerows and trees within the site that 
have a cumulative screening impact on development and contribute to the habitat value 
of the site; 
iv. Other targeted landscape mitigation as set out in the Heritage Impact Assessment 

Page 20



 
OFFICIAL 

(CEC 2016) and summarised under part b of ‘Site Specific Principles of Development’ 
below; 
v. The creation of drainage ponds that have visual and habitat potential, allotments and a 
community orchard.” 

  
In addition, the policy also includes 18 site specific principles of development (a-s).  These further 
focus on the need to incorporate green infrastructure with specific landscape mitigation and 
parkland restoration in accordance with the heritage impact assessment (CEC 2016) This is 
required to minimise the visual impact of the development on the setting of Crewe Hall (Grade 1) 
and its registered park and garden (grade 2) and the neighbouring listed buildings at Stowford 
hamlet, Crewe Hall Farm and Holly Hedge Farm.    

 
Furthermore, it is required that development of the site should be comprehensively master 
planned with a detailed design code to  ensure it is appropriately located and of appropriate scale, 
density and character in its relationship to heritage assets set out above, the wider context and 
landscape character of the countryside. Heritage and design issues are specifically addressed in 
the report below.        

 
   Policy LPS 8 also requires;  
 

 The provision of high-quality cycle and pedestrian route to the adjacent mixed-use site at 
Basford East (LPS 2), including the new primary school. 

 Contributions towards education including new primary school at Basford East, health 
facilities, highway infrastructure improvements including A500 link capacity improvements 
and A5020 Weston Road junction. 

 An appropriately designed green buffer between the site and the village of Weston. 
 

The planning application red line boundary is not fully consistent with the defined boundary of 
CELPS allocation LPS 8.  However, this is primarily due to additional areas being required to 
accommodate a landscape buffer along the southern edges of the site as well as landscape 
restoration within the Historic Park, additional shelter belt mitigation planting and additional 
habitat enhancement.    
 
As required under Policy LPS buffer planting is located along the southern and eastern 
boundaries of development parcel W2.  This will extend into the strategic green gap located 
between Weston and Crewe as defined CELPS Policy PG5.  However planting and landscaping 
are acceptable uses in the countryside compatible with the objectives of CELPS Policy PG 6 
(open countryside) As no built development is proposed here the scheme would not result in the 
erosion of the of green gap  or adversely affect the visual character  of  landscape in  accordance 
with Policy PG5      

 
As set out in the report below, the application is considered to be consistent with the overall 
requirements of the LPS 8 site allocation and the Development Plan.  However, given that this is 
an outline application further consideration of the detail at the reserved matters stage will be 
required. 
  
 
 
 

Page 21



 
OFFICIAL 

Heritage   
 
Background  
 
This allocated site (LPS 8) is located to the south/south-east of Crewe Hall and its registered 
Historic Park and Garden (grade II and at risk). Aside from Crewe Hall (grade I) and entrance 
lodge/screen (grade II), there are also other listed buildings in proximity to the site at Stowford 
(grade II), Crewe Hall Farm (grade II) and Holly hedge Farmhouse, south of the railway (grade 
II*).  Consequently, the site is sensitive in terms of its potential impacts upon heritage assets 
including the registered park and garden. 
 
During the Local Plan process the impact upon built heritage was one of the key allocation 
considerations and significant work was undertaken to seek to address the concerns raised by 
Historic England (HE) as the Local Plan process progressed. This culminated in a Heritage 
Impact Assessment (CEC 2016) being prepared in consultation with HE as well as refinement of 
the policy itself, which then subject to consideration at the Local plan examination. 
 
A package of mitigation is identified in the policy text of LPS 8, informed by that recommended 
by the HIA. The required physical mitigation is primarily based upon areas of historic landscape 
restoration within the site comprising parkland restoration east of the driveway to Crewe Hall 
(north of Stowford), shelter belt restoration to the southwest, south and southeast of Crewe Hall 
Farm off Old Park Road and retention of green space and landscape features to the east of 
Stowford.  
 
In relation to Holly Hedge Farmhouse, a significant buffer of landscaping to the west (on the 
southern edge of the western development parcel) and maintained open space to the east and 
south is identified in the HIA. For the land south of Crewe Hall Farm it requires a central space 
along the access roue to enable parkland landscaping and a tree lined avenue (it is understood 
the Duchy have already implemented the avenue along the driveway up to Crewe Hall Farm), 
with areas of space to the south of the Crewe Hall Farm complex and along the eastern boundary. 
 
The HIA also identifies mitigation in the form of maximum densities and scale of development for 
particular parts of the site, with specific consideration in relation to where parcels could impact 
heritage assets, reducing the density and limiting the storey height at these edges. 
 
It was also required that a further heritage assessment and design steps were necessary to 
ensure appropriate detailed assessment and to establish a sensitive design framework for the 
development. This has resulted in a heritage assessment and accompanying HIA (part of the 
Environmental Statement) and Spatial Design Code (within the Design and Access Statement) 
as part of the outline application. 
 
Policy LPS 8 of the CELPS allocates the site for a new sustainable settlement, subject to a 
number of requirements and site-specific principles of development (as informed by the HIA). 
These requirements/principles include the incorporation of green infrastructure, including a 
number of historic and other landscape mitigation requirements and the requirement for further 
HIA, master planning and development of a design code. 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
OFFICIAL 

Assessment 
 
The proposals are considered to generally reflect the HIA produced in support of CELPS Policy 
LPS 8.  Although it is recognised that there are some areas of departure arising from the 
subsequent detailed heritage assessment undertaken as part of the evidence base for this 
application.  During the course of the application, further design information was submitted in the 
form of the Supplementary Design Information document to address the following concerns;    
 
-  Land south of Crewe Hall Farm (parcels N1/N2).  Concerns were initially raised by the 
Conservation Officer regarding the proximity of development to the south of the Crewe Hall Farm 
complex and whether the landscape buffer had been eroded.   However, the proposals have been 
amended to improve separation and the view toward the listed building and provide more 
generous areas of open space to the south of Crewe Hall Farm.  
 
- Land east of Holly Hedge Farmhouse. The extent of separation has been reduced in this 
proposal compared to that identified in the HIA supporting LPS 8. However, that change results 
from the intervening topography and existing landscape features separating the asset from the 
southeastern development parcels.  Further information has been provided during the course of 
the application to justify the relationship set out in the Supplementary Design Information 
Document.   
 
The submitted cross-section identifies that the development would be separated from the 
farmhouse by around 70m, across a shallow valley with restoration/enhancement of landscape 
features and the proposed location of allotments and community orchard. This variation, subject 
to careful consideration of the scale and densities and proposed landscape design at the detailed 
stage, should not materially worsen the impact of the development than anticipated at the Local 
Plan stage. 
 
Elsewhere densities of development parcels vary when compared to the HIA supporting LPS8.  
Some of those changes are considered beneficial or neutral and will not materially worsen the 
impact of the scheme in heritage terms.  However, the Conservation Officer points out that 
development parcels N1/N2 and S will need careful consideration during the detailed design 
stage to safeguard this.  In addition, Parcel W1 located south of the wooded area opposite the 
main entrance lodge to Crewe Hall will also need to be careful addressed by detailed proposals. 
 
The early implementation of the landscape mitigation will be important in integrating the 
development into this sensitive setting. This needs careful consideration as part of the 
development phasing and secured appropriately. The design if the historic landscape restoration 
should also be based upon compelling historical evidence of the original planting schemes, as 
required by policy LPS 8. This will be secured by planning condition. 
 
The Gardens Trust (Statutory Consultee) has objected to the proposals on the basis that the 
development will significantly impact Crewe Hall registered park and garden and that part of the 
application site includes the registered parkland. 
 
However, as part of the Local Plan process, detailed assessment and considerable negotiation 
was undertaken at that stage to address the concerns of Historic England, culminating in the HIA 
and the requirements of Policy LPS 8. It included consideration of the impacts in relation to the 
setting of the registered parkland and sets out required mitigation.  This is reflected in this 

Page 23



 
OFFICIAL 

application, including a detailed HIA as part of the heritage assessment in the ES (as required by 
LPS8). 
 
In regard to the parts of the site that are located within the registered park and garden (land east 
of the drive to Crewe Hall/north of Stowford and immediately to the east of parcel N2), these 
areas are not proposed for built development but rather landscape restoration. The area north of 
Stowford is proposed in the HIA/LPS 8 as parkland restoration, whilst that to the east of parcel 
N2 proposes restoration of an historic field boundary that was part of the original parkland design 
and is an addition to the mitigation initially set out in LPS8.  Whilst noting the Garden Trust’s 
concern, the inclusion of these areas within the application site is likely to be advantageous in 
securing and implementing the package of historic landscape restoration/mitigation. 
 
As the impacts to heritage assets are considered to be less than substantial, offset by the 
extensive mitigation required by LPS8, the heritage impacts should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the scheme.  Heritage public benefits of this proposal include the proposed landscape 
restoration which forms part of the mitigation.  Part of the parkland east of the main drive to Crewe 
Hall is to be restored as historic parkland, benefitting both the setting to the hall and the registered 
park and garden. The restoration of the shelterbelts along Old Park Road and the reinstatement 
of the historic parkland field boundary on the eastern side of N2 will also benefit the setting of the 
registered park and garden and other heritage assets.   
 
Heritage Conclusion 
 
As part of the Local Plan formulation, this site went through a lengthy process of assessment and 
negotiation, involving Historic England, culminating in a policy that resulted in withdrawal of their 
objection and which was also scrutinised found sound following the CELPS examination. 
 
It was accepted at that time, that development would lead to some adverse impact to the setting 
of heritage assets, including the historic parkland, but it could be mitigated by specific historic 
landscape restoration and other landscape measures.  coupled with a sensitive approach to the 
density, scale and character of the development through master planning and design coding.  
This approach has been carried through appropriately into this application.  
 
However, this is an outline application with majority of detail reserved, therefore further detailed 
design coding to inform the detailed design and refine and improve the concepts as presently 
proposed is essential. This will be secured through conditions. 
 
It is acknowledged by the Conservation Officer that there will some harm to heritage assets by 
virtue of this development occurring within their setting.  The mitigation set out and the coding 
provided thus far reassures that the framework for development and the design control 
mechanisms proposed do generally accord with the HIA/Policy LPS8 of the CELPS to offset that 
harm. Elements of the landscape restoration also constitute a heritage public benefit. 
 
Design  
 
Policies SD2 and SE1 of the CELPS expect that development proposals consider the wider 
character of a place in addition to that of the site and its immediate context, to ensure that it 
reinforces the area in which it is located. These principles are also reflected in the CEC Design 
Guide.  

Page 24



 
OFFICIAL 

 
The outline scheme has been assessed by the Council’s Design Officer using “Building for a 
Healthy Life”.  This is a nationally accepted design development tool used to shape and consider 
the performance of proposed developments, including mixed use schemes such as this one, and 
is suitable for consideration of outline schemes.    
 
The BHL assessment uses a traffic light system, with the aim of eliminating reds, whilst 
maximising the number of greens. The performance of the proposed scheme is summarised in 
the table below. A more detailed commentary in relation to each of the considerations has also 
been provided, but not included within this report.     
 

 
 
Due to the outline status of the application several considerations have been assessed as amber 
because there is limited information at this stage. However, based on the information presently 
available no reds are generated by BHL assessment.  This is with the proviso that detailed coding 
and design development builds upon the principles in this application at the Reserved Matters 
stage.  
 
The parameters, structuring plans and supporting information have been refined during the 
course of the application to secure general accordance with policy LPS 8 relating to the South 
Cheshire Growth Village and the initial spatial framework upon which detailed design 
development can be based. This should then enable the development to meet policy and adopted 
design guidance, including both the CEC Residential Design Guide and the recently adopted 
SuDS Design Guide. 
 
Performance categories 1, 6, 7, 9 and 11, are currently considered amber as there will need to 
be further refinement to improve aspects of the design via the detailed design process.  
Consequently, prior to that, as per the adopted Cheshire East Design Guide SPD, detailed design 
coding will be required. 
 
In relation to category 6 “Memorable Character” the Design Officer considers that the 
placemaking structure plan provides the basis on which to develop the principles for the detailed 
coding/design. This will need some refinement as the detailed coding is developed.    
 
Three main character areas of the scheme are proposed influenced by the parkland setting north 
of the railway line, the village centre, and that relating to the more open farmland character to the 
south of the railway.  Character coding information has been provided for each within the 
submitted DAS/Spatial code document, overlaid by the Supplementary Design Information 
document.  It is recommended a condition should be imposed to ensure the coding in the DAS 
and supplementary information act as the prompt for the detailed design for these areas.  
 
In terms of the Design Officer’s assessment of the main character areas of the scheme;      

Page 25



 
OFFICIAL 

 
Local centre - It is accepted that highway and other constraints such as noise, restrict the extent 
of remodelling of the roundabout junction at the heart of the development.  However, works to 
the public realm to overcome or at least manage vehicular use effectively by reducing the extent 
of carriageway and create a high-quality public realm that helps unify and connect the local centre 
to the rest of the development.  The inclusion of the village focal space contained by 3 storey 
mixed use should act as a strong village centre.  
 
Northern parcels - Additional information has been provided in the Supplementary Design 
Information document improving the relationship of parcels N1 and 2 to the Crewe Hall Farm 
listed and curtilage buildings.   
 
Southern parcels - The key issue with the southern parcels relates to the relationship with grade 
II* Holly Hedge Farmhouse ensuring sufficient distance, intermediary landscaping and 
appropriate height and density on the western edge of development parcel S.  Additional 
information set out in the Supplementary Design Information document indicates that the 
relationship to Holly Hedge Farmhouse and its setting have been appropriately considered at this 
point, to inform detailed coding/design.  Also, of importance to this part of the site, is ensuring 
that the southern edges of the development are appropriately landscaped in relation to the more 
open rural landscape south of the railway.    
  
The Design Officer considers it of critical importance to the place making and overall quality and 
success of this development that improvements of existing roads and measure for speed 
management are not wholly fixed at this point, other than in terms of establishing the principles 
for a package of measures to ensure that a scheme is e achievable in highway terms.        
 
Therefore, the approach to de-formalising the existing highway infrastructure, both on the 
approaches and within the village centre, must also achieve a positive character and a people 
focused place. This must be shaped by urban design and landscape input and consequently the 
submitted technical highway information should be treated as indicative at this stage.  The Design 
Officer advises that detailed coding for the development should therefore include coding for these 
areas informing the detailed design of the public realm and the final design of the highway works. 
 
Summary  
 
Further to the BHL assessment, the Design Officer considers that key aspects will require 
reinforcement/refinement and further design development through detailed coding which are 
summarised as follows;   
 

 The quality of the highway improvements, including speed reduction measures, and public 
realm both on approaches and within the heart of the village, need to build on the indicative 
highway proposals and the principles/visualisations of the Supplementary Design information 
Document. 

 The approach to passive sustainable design in terms of buildings and spaces, including the 
approach to delivering a high-quality SuDS train that meets the requirements of the recently 
adopted Cheshire East SuDS Design Guide. There is scope to be more innovative than is 
presently identified in the drainage strategy, using this to help characterise and improve the 
overall quality of the development. 

Page 26



 
OFFICIAL 

 Further developing/refining the approach to the character and place making of the 
development, building upon the spatial coding and the Supplementary Design Information 
Document and having regard to both the built and landscape context. 

 Ensuring the detailed design coding and subsequent detailed design positively responds to 
the relationship to heritage assets, using that to shape the development’s character and sense 
of place. 

 Ensuring there is a strong heart to the new community and that this is legible and appropriate 
in the wider context, encourages mixed uses and enables vitality and community activity with 
the potential for some organic change over the lifetime of the development (e.g. by introducing 
flexibility in unit design as advocated in the Cheshire East Design Guide) 

 Ensuring that the maximum potential of the blue and green infrastructure is achieved to 
provide a livable, healthy and sustainable place and to help integrate the development within 
its setting. Appropriate management will also be necessary to ensure its integrity in the long 
term. 

 Ensuring that car movement and ownership is handled sensitively and creatively so as not to 
undermine the character of the development, including resolving the design issues for the 
village centre and approaches, establishing a clear street hierarchy and movement framework 
and connections to the wider area, and adopting innovative approaches to car ownership and 
parking design within the development. 

 Ensure the provision of space for street greening, particularly trees, commensurate with the 
street character and formality and ensuring they can be retained for the long term. 

 Ensuring appropriate levels and quality of landscaping along the edges of development 
parcels and especially in relation to the areas of heritage mitigation planting set out in the 
policy and supporting HIA, including advance planting to allow early establishment. 

 Where appropriate, inclusion of feature spaces/events within parcel layouts to help reinforce 
the social function of streets, better handle concentrations of parking and to create points of 
incident and interest, i.e. to move away from typical suburban layouts to something more 
bespoke and imaginative. 

 Inclusion of creative play, wayfinding and public art to help enrich the place. 
 
In respect to phasing of the growth village scheme, the Design Officer considers it logical to 
prioritise the southwestern parcel to provide the required cycleway/pedestrian connection to 
Basford East, with the village centre identified as phase 2.   
 
The phasing should also provide for advance planting/landscape restoration, particularly for the 
areas included to mitigate impacts upon heritage assets identified in the LPS 8 /supporting HIA.  
 
It is also essential that the mixed-use local centre is delivered early within the development 
programme to ensure that this will be a genuinely sustainable community. It is recommended this 
should be secured either by a condition or Section 106 Agreement with a restriction on 
commencement of subsequent phases until its delivery.   
 
Conclusion  
 
The Design Officer considers that although the design response could ideally have been more 
creative, nevertheless the submitted framework is an acceptable basis upon which detailed 
design development can progress to further enhance the scheme at the reserved matters stage.  
 

Page 27



 
OFFICIAL 

The outline proposals are therefore supported in design terms, subject to the requirement for 
detailed design coding in advance of the submission of detailed schemes, including coding for 
the highway infrastructure improvements, notwithstanding the technical proposals for speed 
reduction and road improvements which should be treated as indicative in terms of detail at this 
stage. 
 
Landscape 
 
The proposal represents a significant development adjacent to Crewe Hall on the south eastern, 
rural fringe of Crewe.  A large development of this type will inevitably have effects upon the local 
and wider environment.  However, the Council’s Landscape Officer considers that these effects 
have been minimised or mitigated against to a satisfactory standard at this stage of the proposal.  
 
Visual Impact  

As part of the application a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been submitted 
within the ES. The Council’s Landscape Officer advises that the assessment follows the 
guidelines and methodology outlined in the Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment 3rd Edition 2013.  
 
The assessment refers to sites location the National Character Area, Area 61 – Shropshire, 
Cheshire and Staffordshire Plain/Cheshire Sandstone Ridge and.  At a county level the site is 
located within the Lower Farms and Woods landscape character type as defined in the Cheshire 
Landscape Character Assessment) and included within Landscape Character Area (LCA) 7f: 
Barthomley Character Area.   Although much of the site is excluded from the LCA 7f Barthomley, 
the key characteristics identified for this character area continue across the application site.  The 
LVIA assesses the impact on these landscape elements and viewpoints from receptors including 
surrounding properties, PROW and local roads.              
 
The Landscape Officer concurs with the overall conclusions of the ‘Visual’ chapter within the 
Environmental  Statement  (ES)   It is accepted that  typically a development of this size will have 
visual impacts, but several factors have contributed to the minimisation of such effects.  These 
include the mostly flat topography, few existing residential properties and mature blocks of 
woodland/landscape buffers which helps to filter and screen the development from surrounding 
sensitive areas, including the Crewe Hall Registered Park and Garden. 
 
It is considered that the proposed green infrastructure over time will further integrate the 
development into the surrounding areas sensitively.  However, over illumination of the street 
network could have nighttime visual effects such as sky glow and a more detailed appraisal of 
the proposed lighting types and location alongside measures to reduce light pollution will need to 
be addressed at the reserved matters stage.  
 
Areas within the site are expected to change in character as mitigation planting reduces existing 
open views which exist from various receptors across fields etc.  The Landscape Officer 
concludes that “when planning such a large development the rhythm of visual consequences is 
inevitable and through good planning and design, can complement the area and its impending 
change as much as possible, which this proposal has mostly achieved, given the sites 
constraints”. 
 

Page 28



 
OFFICIAL 

Landscape Design 
The parameters plans and supporting information show generous interweaving green ways, 
footpaths and swathes of mitigation planting to the boundaries of the various parcels of 
development.  Several main or key highways of the scheme indicate strong tree lined boulevards 
which will complement the parkland aesthetic.  The strength of the proposed landscape design 
elements must be maintained and potentially enhanced once more detailed planting master 
planning work is carried out in support of proposals.  In particular, the use of large linear wooded 
areas should create way markers, points of interest, recreation opportunities, seating and picnic 
areas. 
 
The design and access statement and supplementary design information provides a good flavour 
of the road, street, lane planting strategies for development parcels (N1, N2, E, S, W1, W2, C).  
Nevertheless, the Landscape Officer emphasises that the inner estate roads should incorporate 
‘street trees’ capable of being maintained long term by an estate management company, to 
preserve this important green infrastructure. Reliance on front garden trees should be avoided 
as there are limited ways to control their removal by occupants. It is advised that a street tree 
hierarchy should range from grand avenues to smaller tree line streets and lanes to enhance the 
overall masterplan once the landscape/planning details have been finalised.   
 
Notwithstanding the proposed village square, the Landscape Officer considers that ideally a 
central green amenity space should be provided to act as a community anchor but recognises 
that given the constraints of the site and need for mitigation planting the masterplan relies mostly 
on more linear routes for public enjoyment/ amenity.    
 
The SUDs strategy will need to enhance the landscape and its amenity once the detail is 
complete. This will need to include a good mixture of rain gardens, interactive swales and 
features. 
 
The Landscape Officer shares the concerns raised by the Design Officer above, that the de-
formalising the existing highway infrastructure, including the remodelled roundabout, should be 
shaped by urban design and landscape input to achieve an appropriate ‘village’ character.  
However, the landscaped areas within the village centre as currently indicated are acceptable at 
this stage, although a substantial artwork to act as a place marker should be included at the 
village entrance.  
 
Highways  
 
Sustainable access 
There is currently an hourly bus service with no links to education services. This will need to be 
strengthened to improve sustainable access to the site and the applicant has agreed to make a 
contribution to an enhanced service, with an additional hourly bus service that will link the new 
site 6 days a week to Crewe railway station, Weston Village and Crewe Bus Station.  The funding 
will allow 5 years of support for this enhanced Bus Service, until it is established on a commercial 
basis.  A Bus Stop layby and shelter will also be provided and integrated into the village centre. 
 
New pedestrian and cycle paths will link various sections of development. This includes a new 
shared pedestrian/cycle path along Main Road which will involve the narrowing of the Main Road 
carriageway that runs over the railway bridge. This will be achieved with the introduction of a new 

Page 29



 
OFFICIAL 

signalled traffic light junction at the Main Road / Weston Road junction. As part of the changes to 
this junction, the Speed limit will be adjusted on main road to 40mph. 
 
An existing footway runs along Weston Road from the site towards Crewe, and although it has 
been officially designated as a shared cycleway the Highway Officer advises that it does not 
adhere to current design guidelines.  CELPS Policy LPS  8 requires a new pedestrian/cycle route 
to be provided to Basford East and to the new primary school, and then connect into existing 
infrastructure along David Whitby Way in providing an alternative cycle route to Crewe.  This will 
importantly act as a  Safe Route to School via safe crossing facilities incorporated into the new 
signals. Whilst it is appreciated this may not be the most direct route to Crewe; this is supported 
by the Policy position as set out in the Local Plan Strategy. 
 
The Highway Officer considers that phasing of the development is critical as it is essential that 
the route (and associated crossing facilities) to the adjacent Basford East development is fully 
open and available for use before any dwellings are occupied.   
  
Safe and suitable access 
There are a number of site access points to he provided off Main Road, Weston Road, and Old 
Park Road, Changes are also required to the highway to aid safe access for pedestrians and 
cyclists, reduce the desirability of the new village as a through route and to assist in managing 
vehicle speeds through the site.  
 
Further to discussions between the applicant and CEC highways a suite of indicative drawings 
and detailed technical information has been submitted in terms of highway management and 
measures for speed reduction. This has established the principles for a package of measures 
that will ensure that an acceptable scheme is achievable in highway terms.  However, as the 
Design Officer emphasises the requirement to ensure high quality public realm and character 
also needs to be delivered the proposed scheme for the improvement of existing roads and speed 
management measure should not be wholly fixed at this stage.   
 
The proposed highway changes are summarised below:  
 
Old Park Road/Weston Road roundabout  
The overall size of the existing roundabout will be reduced as will the approach lane widths, and 
informal crossing points introduced on each arm. An additional arm will be added to provide 
access to the local centre. Whilst the overall geometry and general form of the remodelled 
roundabout junction is acceptable in highway terms, as set out in the Design section of the report, 
highway infrastructure improvements will also be subject to the requirement for detailed design 
coding.   
  
Weston Road junction with Main Road 
This will be signalised with additional kerbing and Toucan crossing introduced. The right turn lane 
will also be extended towards Crewe as part of these work allowing the new junction to work well 
with acceptable levels of queuing. Although, at present this junction experiences little in the way 
of congestion. The junction amendments are also part of the wider strategy to improve this route 
for pedestrians and cyclists and become less attractive to vehicular traffic. 
 
A new access to parcel W1 is incorporated into the junction and the design of the junction 
prioritises walking and cycling to the Basford East site (and Weston Village). For the safety of 

Page 30



 
OFFICIAL 

cyclists, the bridge parapet height will be increased to 1.4m above the new cycleway. Full details 
will need to be agreed with Network Rail and this will need to be conditioned. 
 
Some existing highway landscaping along the western side of Weston Road and Main Road will 
need to be removed/reduced to make the development visible from the carriageway which will 
also assist in changing the character of the approach to the village and therefore vehicle speeds. 
 
Old Park Road 
The Junction with Old Park Road (Major Arm & Minor Western Arm ) will be narrowed to reduce 
entry and exit speeds into the junction.  A “cobbled surface” will be provided to allow large vehicles 
to overrun if necessary.  The highway design is accepted in principle, but final details will still 
need to be agreed.    
 
On Old Park Road (Major Arm) a Village entry and narrowing of the carriageway is proposed; 
vehicles will need to give way from the Crewe Green direction, serving to slow speeds through 
the village. The highway design is accepted in principle although final details will need to be 
agreed.      
 
On Old Park Road (Minor Western Arm) it is proposed that the road is narrowed but with a build 
out and length of road serving Parcels N1 and N2 widened to 5.5m wide and two passing places. 
Localised widening of the Old Park Road to the Employment Area is proposed to maintain a 
carriageway width of 6.0m. The Highway officer advises that the designs are acceptable in 
principle, but the final details will need to be agreed. 
   
The B5472 
Access to Parcel S is taken off the B5472 which is currently a high-speed road. To both enable a 
safe access to be provided at this location and ‘transition’ to the new village centre an extensive 
traffic calming scheme is required.  The principles of the general arrangements include the 
introduction of a cobbled ‘central reserve’ will effectively narrow the running lanes to about 3.1m 
wide. Given the importance of achieving the required Speed reductions in this area, the applicant 
has also agreed to fund a scheme of Average Speed Cameras on this section of road.  However, 
if it is determined this funding is not required in this location the Highway Officer advises that the 
contribution will be made available for wider traffic calming measures, sustainable travel and 
travel planning measures required in the vicinity of the site. 
 
As part of the changes, a 3m wide Cycleway is also provided to the new access (parcel S) and 
this requires a minimum 1.4m high parapet height to be provided adjacent to the cycleway. Full 
details will need to be agreed with Network Rail and a planning condition is recommended.   
 
Some existing landscaping along the western side of the B5472 will need to be removed/reduced 
to increase visibility of the development from the carriageway to also change the character of the 
approach to the village and help reduce vehicle speeds. This can be addressed at the reserved 
matters stage when details of landscaping will be considered.  
 
Speed Limit Alterations 
As highway changes are implemented and phases of the development are delivered the Highway 
Officer advises that changes to speed limits will need to be implemented as follows;    
-  The New Main Road signals; introduce a 30mph zone, approx. 100m west of Stowford Cottage, 
with the remainder of Weston Road becoming a 40mph zone to the University Way Roundabout. 

Page 31



 
OFFICIAL 

The 30mph Zone extends Eastwards to the Weston Road / B5472 roundabout. The signals also 
require a 30mph zone on Main Road to be provided approximately 100m south of Holly Hedge 
Farm. The remainder of Main Road until Weston Village will be designated as a 40mph zone. A 
Build out / Gateway Feature is included in the design of the traffic signals at this transition. 
-  Village Centre Roundabout; introduce a 30mph Speed Limit on the B5472. This will start from 
just before the Railway Bridge. A 40 mph zone will then extend from here towards the Meremoor 
Moss Roundabout until about 100m south east of Jack Lane; where the speed limit will revert to 
National. 
- Old Park Road accesses; the Speed Limit is reduced by means of a Gateway feature from 
40mph to 30mph. 
 
Network Capacity 
Vehicle trip generation for the development has been forecast using industry standard methods 
and this data has been used to carry out capacity assessments of nearby junctions. Committed 
developments have also been included in the assessment including an allowance made for the 
recently approved Basford East employment development (23/0539N) The junctions modelled 
include the Main Road / Weston Road new traffic signals, the David Whitby Way / University Way 
Roundabout, the A500 /B5472 Meremoor Moss Roundabout and the A500/ David Whitby Way 
Roundabout. An assessment of the revised B5472/Old Park Road roundabout was also 
undertaken. 
 
Main Road / Weston Road Junction 
It is accepted that delays will be introduced at this junction, where currently there is little 
congestion. This is largely due to the need to introduce single carriageway working across the 
Main Road railway bridge to accommodate the Cycleway route to Basford East. Maximum 
queues are predicted to be approximately 50 metres short of the B5472 roundabout so there is 
no interaction between the two junctions. 
 
Alternatives to this arrangement were considered including a new bespoke Cycleway bridge over 
the railway.  However, providing new infrastructure over a live railway is prohibitively costly and 
such an obligation could only be justified if there were no acceptable alternatives.  In this case 
as recognised by the Highway Officer, although   the alternative highway arrangement introduces 
some additional delays from the situation today, this is far from what could be classified as 
‘severe’ to justify a refusal on highways grounds (or compel a new Rail Bridge to be built). 
 
Additionally, the Council is aware of the concerns of the Weston Community around “rat running’ 
through Weston village. With the improvements planned on the University Way Roundabout and 
A500 / Whitby Way and Meremoor Moss Roundabout it is considered that these changes may 
serve to reduce the attractiveness of the route through Weston Village to non-local traffic. 
 
A Stage 1 Safety Audit of this signal junction has been provided and considered acceptable by 
CEC Highways  
 
University Way / Weston Road Roundabout 
The application for the recently approved Basford East employment development (23/0539N) 
application assessed the combined impact of both of these large scheme applications at this 
junction. Both applications had similar impacts at this junction and at the A500 / David Whitby 
Way junction. It was agreed between the parties that the employment scheme would pick up the 
cost for proving an improved scheme at the A500/ David Whitby Way junction with the South 

Page 32



 
OFFICIAL 

Cheshire Growth Village picking up the cost for the solution at the University Way junction; which 
is also reflective of the balance of traffic impacts. 
 
Given levels of queuing predicted on David Whitby Way an improvement scheme for this 
roundabout has been agreed with applicant.  The amened layout is anticipated to returns queuing 
to about pre-development levels and also provides for a new Toucan Crossing on the western 
arm of Weston Road. 
 
The Developer has agreed to deliver the improvements at University Way via a S278 agreement; 
or financial contribution (equivalent value) through a S106 Agreement, to allow the Council to 
deliver this scheme earlier.  
 
Determining the trigger point for these works to be provided is challenging as the requirement is 
a function of two developments with independent delivery programmes. However, given the Main 
Road Signals Scheme will introduce some considerable delays via the existing Weston Road 
corridor, it is therefore considered appropriate to provide the ‘improved’ strategic alterative 
corridor at the same time and encourage traffic to stay on the David Whitby Way Route.  This 
strategy is also consistent with the provision of the A500/Whitby Way improvement early in the 
development of their approved employment development (23/0539N). 
 
In summary, it is CEC Highways view that the University Way roundabout improvement is 
delivered and operational t the same time as the installation of the Main Road signals. 
 
A500 / David Whitby Way Roundabout 
The Growth Village Scheme (22/1447N) does have an impact at this junction. However, as per 
the strategy set out above, a scheme has been agreed with the developer for the employment 
development (23/0539N) to provide for an improved layout. This is conditioned to be delivered 
quite early on in the development of the employment scheme and is designed to cater for both 
sets of generated traffic. 
 
David Whitby Way – Central Roundabout 
This junction has not been specifically assessed in the South Cheshire Growth Village Transport 
Assessment.  However, the proposals for the Basford East employment Development (23/0539N) 
did review the operation of the junction.   
 
The junction is forecast to operate with minimal queuing in the future and with the relatively 
modest flows that the Growth Village push through this junction and CEC highways are satisfied 
that the impacts will not require any mitigation measures.  
 
However, local concerns have been expressed about residents of the Growth Village driving to 
the new primary school located on Basford East, rather than making use of the sustainable 
access via the new cycle link.  The Highway Officer considers it preferable if any ‘school traffic’ 
was not routed via David Whitby Way and encouraged to use the Main Road / B5472 ‘local’ roads.  
This could be encouraged by including a formal drop off facility within Parcel W2 and secured 
through a planning condition for it to be incorporated into the layout at the Reserved Matters 
stage. 
  
 
 

Page 33



 
OFFICIAL 

Meremoor Moss Roundabout /(B5472/A500) 
The applicant originally considered that there was no need for an improvement at this junction. 
However, this route will be the main access to the development, particularly as the Weston Road 
Route via David Whitby Way now has a set of traffic signals.  
 
The Highway Officer advises that the Basford East employment scheme (23/0539N) has very 
similar impact to that of the Growth Village. Combined, these two developments would add 
significant congestion to this already congested junction. 
 
The developer of the employment scheme has agreed to contribute £2.45M towards an 
improvement scheme at this location. The Council is working up a detailed design of the 
improvements required here now that the scope of the A500 Dualling Scheme has been revised.  
Initial optioneering has identified a scheme costing approximately £5M that would accommodate 
development traffic and provide a strategic improvement.  
  
Given the level of impact and the proportionate contribution from the employment scheme, a 
financial contribution of £2.45M is required to be secured via a S106 agreement.  The trigger 
point for payment of this contribution can be set at a later stage of the development as the most 
severe impacts are seen only in later years. 
  
Summary  
The Highway Officer raises no objection to the application. Although final design details will need 
to be agreed, overall the proposals will;  
 

 Improve bus services to/from the new village 

 improve pedestrian and cycle connections through the site;  

 provide a safe route to the nearest school; 

 reduce the desirability of the village as a traffic through route  

 reduce speed limits; and mitigate the wider highways impact final detail need to be agreed. 

   
It is considered that phasing of the development and the associated highway mitigation works 
will be required to deliver a sustainable development.  
 
To ensure improved public transport and that the traffic impact of the scheme can be mitigated 
through off-site highway improvements, financial contributions are required to be secured through 
a S106 Agreement as follows:    
 

 bus services contribution of £1.083 M to be paid at the following triggers: 50% on occupation 

of the 150th Dwelling; 50% on occupation of the 325 Dwelling. 

 

 £150,000 towards average Speed Cameras or other traffic control measures on the B5472 
or other traffic management measures or Travel Plan incentives required in the vicinity of 
the site.  This contribution will be payable prior to occupation of 325th unit or delivery of 
the Main Road / B5472 junction alterations. 

 

 Contribution of £2.45m towards the B5472 / A500 ‘Meremoor Moss’ roundabout scheme 
or broader highway improvements on the A500 corridor with payment of £1.45M prior to 
occupation of 350 units and of £1M prior to occupation of 500 units. 

Page 34



 
OFFICIAL 

 

 Contribution of £1.4M towards improvements at the University Way Weston Road 
Roundabout prior to occupation of the 150th dwelling unless this has been delivered 
earlier by the developer under the S278 trigger. 

 
In addition, planning conditions are recommended to be attached as follows;   
 

 Provision of bus Layby to be implemented before the occupation of 50 houses.  

 Scheme of street lighting to be approved prior to delivery of any of the highway improvements 

 Provision of Cycleway link to the Basford East strategic site through parcel W2 including the 

delivery of the Signals at Main Road / Weston Road prior to the occupation of any dwellings 

 Prior to the delivery of the Weston Road / Main Road signals the improvement scheme to 
the Weston Road/University Way Roundabout Junction to be completed and available for 
use   

 The submitted indicative drawings and technical information establish the principles for the 
measures of a Highway Traffic Management Scheme to be incorporated into the 
development as part of any Reserved Matters application       

 Details for the provision of a 5 space parking ‘drop off’ facility and prior to the occupation 
of any properties on Parcel W2  

 Approval of Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for each phase  

 Scheme for the removal of frontage vegetation on the B5427, Old Park Road, Weston 
Road and Main Road for Parcels W2, S and E to encourage compliance with the proposed 
speed limits (this can be secured through the overall landscaping proposals as part of a 
Reserved matters application) 

 Submission of a full Residential Travel Plan prior to the occupation of any phase   

 Approval of a scheme for the surfacing material and finishes (this will be addressed 
through a condition requiring design coding)   

 Submission of details of minimum parapet height on B5472 railway bridge prior to 
provision of cycleways. 

 Submission of a detailed scheme for the widening of Old Park Road to 6.0m  
 
As recommended by National Highways a further condition is required to secure the approval of 
a comprehensive travel plan framework for the site prior   to first occupation.       
 
Ecology 
 
There are various ecology matters to consider. These are broken down into the following 
subsections and assessed accordingly. Additional survey information and clarification in respect 
of ecological issues has been provided during the course of the application. 
 
Statutory Designated Sites 
Natural England have been consulted on this application and originally requested additional 
information to allow an assessment to be made of the potential impacts of the proposed 
development upon Sandbach Flashes SSSI. Natural England have subsequently advised that 
they have no objections in respect of the Sandbach Flashes SSSI, subject to mitigation being 
secured by means of condition. 
 

Page 35



 
OFFICIAL 

Information has been submitted in respect of statutory designated sites which includes a Habitat 
Regulations ‘Screening’ Assessment undertaken under Regulation 63. This assessment 
concludes there are no ‘likely significant effects’, consequently an Appropriate Assessment under 
the regulations is not required.  The Council’s Ecologist advises that the Council adopts the 
submitted assessment and conclusions of the screening assessment.   
 
The Council’s Ecologist notes that Natural England (NE) requested further information in respect 
of Peat Resources on site. This has been provided and no objection is raised by NE, subject to 
a condition being imposed requiring the submission of a detailed drainage strategy which 
prevents the loss or degradation of restorable peat. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
Substantial areas of green infrastructure are included on the submitted parameters plan. These 
contribute to the developments aspirations to deliver Biodiversity Net Gain and these areas need 
to delivered in the early phases of the development.   
 
The draft Phasing Plan shows one area of landscape restoration/Biodiversity enhancement 
delivered as part of Phase 2 and the second area delivered as part of Phase 3 of the 
development.  If there is a delay in the delivery of GI, this will need to be accounted for in the 
Biodiversity Metric calculation. 
   
Priority Habitats 
Wood Pasture and Parkland 
Wood Pasture and Parkland priority habitat is shown on the national inventory of priority habitats 
as being present on the application site.   The area of land that appears on the inventory no 
longer appears to support this habitat but is proposed for enhancement as part of the green 
infrastructure associated with the development. This would deliver a significant benefit for 
biodiversity. 
 
Hedgerows 
The submitted Biodiversity Net Gain report states that 210m of existing hedgerow would be lost 
as a result of the proposed development.  However, the proposed development is anticipated to 
deliver a net increase in hedgerow biodiversity.  Conditions are required to ensure that the extent 
of habitat creation anticipated by the biodiversity metric calculations is incorporated into detailed 
designs coming forward at the reserved matters stage. 
 
Ponds 
Whilst the Environmental Statement has been based upon the existing ponds on site being 
retained on site, and this forms a part of the submitted amphibian and reptile mitigation strategy, 
the ponds are not shown as being retained on the parameters plan or the illustrative masterplan.  
A condition is therefore recommended to ensure that all existing ponds are retained as part of 
the proposed development. 
 
Great Crested Newts 
This protected species was recorded at ponds both within and adjacent to the red line of the 
application site in 2017 and 2019 with a medium size meta-population being present. Updated 
surveys in 2022 confirmed the continued presence of the species. 
  

Page 36



 
OFFICIAL 

Based upon the submitted surveys, the Council’s Ecologist considers that the proposed 
development is likely to result in an adverse impact upon this species as a result of the loss of 
terrestrial habitat and the risk of newts being killed or injured during construction. 
 
The EC Habitats Directive 1992 requires the UK to maintain a system of strict protection for 
protected species and their habitats. The Directive only allows disturbance, or deterioration or 
destruction of breeding sites or resting places: 
 
(a) in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other imperative reasons of overriding 

public interest, including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial consequences 
of primary importance for the environment, and provided that there is; 

(b) no satisfactory alternative and 
(c) no detriment to the maintenance of the species population at favourable conservation status 

in their natural range 
 
The UK has implemented the Directive in the Conservation (Natural Habitats etc.) Regulations 
2010 (as amended) which contain two layers of protection (i) a requirement on Local Planning 
Authorities (“LPAs”) to have regard to the Directive`s requirements above, and (ii) a licensing 
system administered by Natural England and supported by criminal sanctions. 
 
Policy SE 3 of the CELPS states that development which is likely to have a significant impact on 
a site with legally protected species will not be permitted except where the reasons for or the 
benefits of the development outweigh the impact of the development.  Circular 6/2005 advises 
LPAs to give due weight to the presence of protected species on a development site to reflect 
EC requirements. “This may potentially justify a refusal of planning permission.” 
 
The NPPF advises LPAs to protect and enhance biodiversity: if significant harm resulting from a 
development cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts) 
or adequately mitigated, or as a last resort, compensated for, planning permission should be 
refused. 
 
Natural England`s standing advice is that, if a (conditioned) development appears to fail the three 
tests in the Habitats Directive, then LPAs should consider whether Natural England is likely to 
grant a licence: if unlikely, then the LPA should refuse permission: if likely, then the LPA can 
conclude that no impediment to planning permission arises under the Directive and Regulations. 
 
In terms of the Habitat Directive tests; 
 
- The proposed development is of overriding public interest. The development of this allocated 
strategic site (LPS 8- South Cheshire Growth Village) would deliver up to 650 dwellings of which 
30% would be affordable homes.  This supports the overall aims of the Local Plan Strategy and 
the development of this allocated site makes an important contribution to these objectives.         
- The site is allocated for significant development and there is no satisfactory alternative to 
delivering this scale of development.     
- The Council’s Ecologist advises that the retention of the on-site pond and enhancement of 
associated terrestrial habitat, together with standard measures to minimise the risk of newts being 
harmed during site clearance works, would be sufficient to maintain the favourable conservation 
status populations associated with the application site 
 

Page 37



 
OFFICIAL 

The Environmental Statement includes outline proposals to mitigate and compensate for the 
adverse impacts of the proposed development upon this species. An indicative plan of GCN and 
reptile mitigation measures shows the GCN breeding pond retained within an area of enhanced 
terrestrial habitat.    
   
A second smaller area of GCN mitigation is proposed on the west of parcel W2, but this is shown 
as being amenity open space on the Indicative Open Space Strategy. If this area is to be used 
as ecological mitigation it must not be identified as amenity open space. 
 
Therefore, a condition would be required to ensure the submission of a Great Crested Newt 
mitigation scheme at the reserved matters stage. The Council’s Ecologist further advises that as 
an alternative to a conventionally licensed mitigation scheme the applicant should also consider 
entry into Natural England’s District Level licensing scheme for the species.    
 
It is considered that the proposals would be comply with the relevant policies of Development 
Plan in terms of the impact upon protected species. 
 
Toad 
This priority species was recorded at a pond within the interior of the site.  The proposed 
development is likely to have an adverse impact on this population due to the loss of suitable, 
albeit relatively low value terrestrial habitat. This impact is likely to be significant at the Local 
scale. Connectivity with offsite habitats to the west would however be maintained as part of the 
proposed development and enhancements of terrestrial habitats for Great Crested Newts would 
also benefit this species. 
 
Polecat 
This priority species was recorded on site. The proposed development which is largely restricted 
to the existing arable and grassland fields would be unlikely to have a significant adverse impact 
upon this species through habitat loss. The proposed development may however result in the 
species being deterred from using retained habitats on site due to increased human 
presence.  This is likely to result in a low magnitude impact upon this species, which is likely to 
be addressed through the habitat enhancement proposed. 
 
Bats 
Roosts 
A number of trees on site have been found to have potential to support roosting bats.  No 
evidence of roosting bats was however recorded during surveys of trees likely to be affected by 
the development during 2018, 2019 and 2022. The Council’s ecologist therefore advises that the 
proposed development is unlikely to result in an adverse impact upon roosting bats based upon 
the current status of roosting bats on site. 
   
A condition is however required to secure the submission of updated bat surveys/assessment is 
support of any future reserved matters application. 
  
Activity 
Bat activity surveys have been undertaken to inform the Environmental Statement.  The Council’s 
Ecologist advises that the application site supports sufficient diversity of bat species to meet the 
selection criteria as a Local Wildlife Site.  For the most part important bat habitats would be 
retained as part of the proposed development, with new suitable habitat delivered as part of the 

Page 38



 
OFFICIAL 

Green Infrastructure proposals.  The biodiversity metric as discussed below, can be used to 
establish whether sufficient habitat creation is being provided to address that lost.  Areas of 
highest bat activity were associated with three areas (Static Detector Locations 2, 3 and 
8).  Locations 2 and 3 are within the green infrastructure areas, whilst static location 8 is near 
existing road and so may already be subject to the effects of light pollution.  
 
To avoid any adverse impacts on bats a condition should be attached requiring each reserved 
matters application to include details of the proposed lighting scheme which should reflect the 
Bat Conservation Trust Guidance Note 08/18 (Bats and Artificial Lighting in the UK) 
   
Dormouse 
This species is known to have only one population in Cheshire. The Councils   Ecologist that this 
species is not reasonable likely to be present or affected by the proposed development. 
 
Badgers  
An updated badger survey has been submitted.  There is significant badger sett on site and there 
are other setts located beyond the site boundary.  It is not anticipated that any badger sett would 
be directly affected as a result of the proposed development.  The development however is likely 
to result in the loss of suitable foraging habitat.  With mitigation and compensation measures in 
place the proposed development is anticipated to result in a low magnitude adverse impact this 
species. 
 
The precise impacts of the development will however depend upon the layout proposed at the 
reserved matters stage and the status of badgers on site at the time.  A condition is recommended 
requiring the submission of an updated badger survey and mitigation strategy in support of any 
future reserved matters application.   
 
Otter 
Evidence of Otter activity was recorded on the periphery of the application site. No resting places 
(holts) where however identified.  The proportion of the site in the vicinity of the otter activity is 
proposed for habitat enhancement. No significant effects on Otter are therefore anticipated based 
upon the current status of otters on site.  There is a low risk that if otters use the site as a resting 
place in the future they could be disturbed during habitat enhancement works.  A condition is 
recommended requiring any reserved matters application to be supported by an updated otter 
survey and mitigation strategy. 
 
Water Vole 
No evidence of this species was recorded during the submitted survey and the watercourse on 
site was not found to be particularly suitable for this species. On the   of the survey visit and 
distance of the watercourse from the development, The Council’s Ecologist advises that this 
species is not reasonably likely to be affected.  
 
Hedgehog 
The proposed development will result in the loss of habitat for this species.  However, the majority 
of habitat lost would however be of relatively low value for this species. The Environmental 
Statement includes proposals to minimise the risk of the individual animals being killed or injured 
during the construction phase. The proposed development would result in a minor impact upon 
this species as a result of the loss of habitat and risk during the construction phase, but these 
effects are likely to be addressed through the habitat enhancements proposed. 

Page 39



 
OFFICIAL 

Reptiles 
Slow worm was recorded on an arable field margin adjacent to the southern railway embankment 
on the northern edge of development parcel ‘W2’.  This species has also been identified in similar 
habitats on adjacent sites.  As this species has been recorded along the railway corridor it is also 
potentially present within habitats to the south of parcels ‘W1’ and ‘Plot S’. Habitats in these two 
additional plots were not however particularly suitable for reptiles at the time the surveys were 
undertaken. 
 
The optimal habitat for slow worms is along the railway corridor outside the red line of the 
application and so not directly affected, whilst habitats within the red line are likely to be less 
favourable, with the exception of the field margin north of W2.   
Any sites supporting this species, which is uncommon in Cheshire, would meet Local Wildlife Site 
selection criteria, and receive protection through Policy SE3 of the Local Plan Strategy. 
 
The Environmental Statement (ES includes outline proposals to mitigate the risk of slow worms 
being killed or injured during the construction phase.  In order to reduce the potential impacts of 
the proposed development upon this species resulting from loss of habitat and risk of harm during 
construction a 2m undeveloped buffer has been provided in the plots abutting the railway corridor 
and shown illustratively on the GCN and Reptile Mitigation Plan included with the applicants ‘CEC 
Nature Conservation responses’ (November 2023).  
 
A reptile receptor area is shown indicatively on the submitted ‘CEC Nature Conservation 
responses (November 2023).   This area is however also shown as being a Childrens Play Area 
on the submitted Indicative Open Space Strategy.   Whilst the two uses are incompatible, this 
area is not committed as open space/play area and would be available as a reptile mitigation 
area. 
 
A condition is recommended requiring any reserved matters application for development parcels 
‘W1’, ‘W2’ and ‘S’ be supported by an updated reptile survey/assessment and mitigation and 
compensation strategy which should include the provision of a 2m buffer adjacent to the railway 
corridor. 
 
Nesting Birds 
The application site supports a number of breeding bird species including several that are priority 
species. The habitat utilised by these species would for the most part be retained as part of the 
proposed development.  The Council’s Ecologist advises that adequate suitable compensatory 
planting must be provided for any habitats lost to the development, and this can be assessed 
through the biodiversity metric discussed below. 
 
Invertebrates 
A number of priority invertebrate species have been recorded within the broad locality of the 
application site.   Much of the application site is not however suitable for these species, and the 
majority of more important habitat is retained.  The proposed development with the associated 
green infrastructure creation is not likely to have a significant adverse impact upon priority 
invertebrate species. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
Local Plan Policy SE 3(5) requires all developments to aim to positively contribute to the 
conservation of biodiversity. In order, to assess the impacts of the proposed development upon 

Page 40



 
OFFICIAL 

biodiversity the applicant has submitted an assessment of the residual impacts of the proposed 
development using the Defra biodiversity ‘metric’ methodology.  An assessment of this type 
calculates in ‘units’ whether the proposed development would deliver a net gain or loss for 
biodiversity. 
 
The submitted metric calculation shows that the proposed development would result in a net gain 
for biodiversity.  It also reflects the presence of the application site with the CEC ecological 
network, however the Council’s Ecologist point out that has only been applied for habitats of 
medium distinctiveness and above.  Nevertheless, applying this change to all habitats entered in 
the metric still results in the scheme still delivering a net gain, but the percentage gain is reduced. 
 
The condition assessments undertaken of the baseline habitats has not been based upon the 
standardised metric condition assessment criteria.  As a result, the Councils Ecologist has 
advised there is a risk that the baseline assessment of the existing habitats on site may not be 
accurate, affecting the results of the overall BNG assessment. 
 
In their consultation comments Natural England requested greater wetland creation and 
enhancement proposals as part of the green infrastructure delivered as part of the proposed 
development.  This is supported by the Councils Ecologist.    
 
Planning conditions are required to ensure the reserved matters applications are supported by a 
habitat creation method statement, 30-year habitat management plan and an ecological 
monitoring strategy to ensure that the habitat creation anticipated by the biodiversity metric is 
brought forward. 
 
Ecological enhancement 
This planning application provides an opportunity to incorporate features to increase the 
biodiversity value of the final development in accordance with Local Plan Policy SE 3.  A condition 
is recommended requiring any future reserved matters application to be supported by a strategy 
for the incorporation of features to enhance the biodiversity value of the development.  
 
Invasive non-native plant species 
A number of non-native invasive plant species have been recorded on site. If planning consent 
is granted.  A condition is recommended requiring the submission of a management plan for the 
control of these species with each reserved matters application. 
 
Conditions 
 
In summary, the Council’s Ecologist raises no objection to the development subject to a series of 
conditions being attached as recommended above.  The Environment Agency has also requested 
that a condition be imposed requiring that  an ecological survey shall be carried out prior to the 
submission of detailed plans to enable an assessment of the risk posed by the development.   
However, the Council’s Ecologist advises against attaching such a condition requiring a ‘blanket’ 
ecology survey at this stage, given that recommendations have already been made for specific 
surveys which need to be updated.   
 
Trees and Woodland  

This application is supported by a Preliminary Tree Constraints Plan and Tree Survey Schedule.  

Page 41



 
OFFICIAL 

 
The Council’s Forestry Officer notes that Tree Constraints Plan is dated December 2018 so pre-
dates the submission of the application by over three years. For the purposes of any assessment 
on this application, it is therefore considered that the reliability and accuracy of the supporting 
arboricultural information should be given limited weight unless other material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
The survey has recorded 110 Individual trees, 46 groups of trees 27 hedgerows and 9 woodlands 
which are annotated on the plan with indicative crown spreads and root protection areas 
(RPA).The majority of trees are categorised and A (High) moderate (B) category and should be 
regarded as principle landscape assets which means there will be a presumption for their 
retention unless there are exceptional circumstances where there are clear overriding reasons 
for allowing the development and there are no suitable alternatives. Where adverse impacts are 
unavoidable, such impacts must satisfactorily demonstrate significant environmental gain by 
appropriate mitigation, compensation or offsetting. 
 
Three mature trees (two Oak T55; T58 and one Sycamore T80) and one group of Elm (G18) are 
identified as unsuitable for retention due to of  arboricultural features that limit their future life 
expectancy and are identified for removal irrespective of the development proposals. 
 
Tree Preservation Orders and Conservation Areas 
Trees within and immediately adjacent to the site are currently not protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order and the site does not lie within a designated Conservation Area. 
 
Ancient Woodland 
No Ancient Woodland is listed within or adjacent to the site. 
 
Veteran Trees 
The NPPF defines veteran trees are those which, because of age, size and condition, are of 
exceptional biodiversity, cultural or heritage value and are regarded as 'irreplaceable'. 
 
The Woodland Trust maintains an inventory of significant trees which includes some ancient and 
veteran individuals.  Whilst no records of Ancient or Veteran trees are recorded on the site, any 
arboricultural assessment as part of any future reserved matters application must assess trees 
for Veteran or Ancient status in accordance with the relevant guidance. 
   
To comply with national and local planning policy development must not result in loss or 
deterioration of ancient and veteran trees unless wholly exceptional reasons and a suitable 
compensation strategy exist. Should Veteran or Ancient trees be present on the site, it will be 
necessary to demonstrate through the submission of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment that 
no adverse impacts will occur. 
 
Priority Habitat Inventory 
 
The Natural England Priority Habitat Inventory https://magic.defra.gov.uk/identifies woodland 
types under the habitat type ‘deciduous woodland’ which are contiguous with Woodlands W1; 
W4; W5 and W7(G11) of the Tree Constraints Plan.  
 

Page 42

https://magic.defra.gov.uk/


 
OFFICIAL 

The Inventory has records of Woodland Pasture and Parkland associated with Crewe Hall and is 
discussed further in the Nature Conservation Officers consultation comments. 
 
Proposed Access points 
Four access points into the various parcels of the site are submitted for approval as part of this 
application: 
 
Parcel W2 - West of main road and south of the rail line  
Northern Parcels N1 and N2 – off Old Park Road  
Parcel E - off Old Park Road  
Parcel S - Off B5472  
 
No information appears to have been provided within the Tree Survey on the impact of these 
proposed access points and associated visibility splays on existing trees. Therefore, the Forestry 
Officer advises that should any A or B category trees be lost as a result of the proposed accesses 
and there are no suitable alternatives any future reserved matters application must demonstrate 
significant environmental gain by appropriate mitigation, compensation or offsetting. 
 
Trees and Woodlands 
 
The Tree Survey has identified 110 individual trees within the site of which 25 are High (A) 
category and 70 are moderate (B) category. The site includes a further 46 tree groups of which 
17 are categorised as moderate (B) category.  Nine woodlands (W1-W9) have been identified 
within the site and categorised as High (A) or Moderate (B) quality. The submitted Planning 
Statement states that most of the existing trees are to be retained as part of the scheme and as 
previously stated all A and B category trees including woodland must be regarded as principal 
landscape assets. The indicative master plan shows trees and woodlands to be retained within 
the schemes design.  
 
As part of any detailed design submitted at reserved matters, the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment must fully assess the constraints posed by trees both above and below ground 
following the design advice provided in BS5837:2012 and ensure sufficient space from 
development to allow for their long term physical retention without unduly impacting on residential 
amenity. 
 
Woodlands retained as part of the scheme will need to be subject to a detailed woodland 
management plan. That will include long term objectives for the woodlands, a management 
strategy, plan of operations and maintenance schedules for a minimum 10-year period in 
accordance Forestry Commission and UK Forestry Standard (UKFS) standing advice. 
 
Hedgerows 
A total of 210 metres of existing hedgerow is proposed to be lost because of the proposed 
development. However, the loss of hedgerow is addressed by the Council Ecologist who advises 
that in view of the extensive GI and planting which is to be provided the development is 
anticipated to deliver a net increase in hedgerow biodiversity.  
 
In conclusion, the Council’s Forestry Officer raises no objections to this application, subject to 
conditions requiring any reserved matters application being supported by an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and the submission of a Woodland Management Plan.   

Page 43



 
OFFICIAL 

 Flood Risk/Drainage 
 
The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy show that the majority of the Site is situated 
in Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk of flooding) with a small area (less than 1 % of the total area) at the 
northeast of the Site located in Flood Zones 2 and 3 associated with Englesea Brook.  All new 
build development will be in Flood Zone 1. The proposals for the small areas within Flood Zone 
2 and 3 include tree planting and landscaping. 
 
The Outline Surface Water Drainage Strategy broadly shows how surface water and run-off can 
be managed and attenuated so as not to increase downstream flood risk.  The housing 
development will drain towards nearby swales, which will convey surface water to Sustainable 
Drainage System (SuDS) attenuation basins.  
  
The drainage basins are indicated to be located within Flood Zone 1 and will be designed to 
collect and store surface water runoff and discharge off-site at the greenfield rate.  It is proposed 
that attenuation basins in the eastern section of the scheme will discharge into tributaries of 
Englesea Brook and to a tributary of Basford Brook for the western part of the scheme. In addition, 
the southern parts of the site are proposed to discharge to an existing surface water drainage to 
the west of the site also connect to the Basford East surface water network.  
 
It is further stated that the drainage strategy seeks to re-establish and work with the natural 
drainage patterns across the site that have in places been impacted by infilling of ditches and 
construction of the railway line and B5472, minimising flood risk. 
 
At this stage, whilst the overall principles of the drainage strategy have been accepted,  
detailed issues are required to be addressed in respect of the final design of elements of the 
drainage system including the provision of SuDs features.  

 
Following clarification of technical aspects of the operation of the drainage system, including 
surface water discharge routes beyond the site boundary to Englesea Brook and also options 
from the western parcel (W2) toward tributaries of the Basford Brook, the Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) now raise no objections to the application subject to conditions. In addition, the 
Environment Agency have also been formally consulted and have no objection subject to 
conditions being attached.   

 
These planning conditions require the development to be in accordance with an updated Flood 
Risk Assessment including a detailed Drainage Strategy; approval of the overall detailed strategy 
design limiting the surface water runoff and the need for proposals to incorporate SuD’s in 
accordance with the adopted SPD.     

    
Importantly, the Landscape and Design sections also highlight the design implications of the 
drainage strategy, and in particular the need to deliver of high-quality SuDS. 

 
In addition, United Utilities raises no objections to the application, subject to conditions being 
attached requiring that as part of any reserved matters application the submission of a phasing 
plan.  In terms of the timing/delivery of the development, a Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
Strategy for the entire site, and  a detailed Foul and Surface Water Drainage Scheme for each 
phase of the development.   
 

Page 44



 
OFFICIAL 

Open Space, Sport and Recreation   
 
LPS 8 requires that the development of this site should provide green infrastructure and 
accommodate open space provision, including children’s equipped play space/multi-use games 
and other recreational facilities    
 
In addition, Policy SE6 of the CELPS sets out the open space requirements for housing 
development which are (per dwelling): 
 

 Children’s play space - 20sqm 

 Amenity Green Space - 20sqm 

 Allotments - 5sqm 

 Green Infrastructure connectivity 20sqm 

 
An Indicative Open Space Strategy plan has been provided which indicates the  provsion of 
allotments, orchards, one NEAP, three LEAPs, one LAP which are well positioned throughout the 
development.   
 
Policy LPS 8 also requires provison of a MUGA and teen facilities, However given the restrictions 
of woodland areas, the proximity of future properties and mitigation measures set out in the 
Heritage Impact Assesment, the Leisure Offcier accepts that such elements would need carefuly 
consideration and design to sympathetically take  into account of the constraints of the site. A 
green gym is also required which could be easily accommodated throughout the development at 
the Reserved Matters Stage.     
 
In terms of the typology requirements set out under Policy SE.6, the Leisure Officer considers 
that the indicative open space strategy does accord with the minimum provision for  informal 
amenity space which be used for recreation or kickbabout/play space.  Given the location of the 
development parcels which has been determined by the Heritage Impact Asseemnt (HIA), green 
amenity space is consequently in the main linear in character,  and also contains woodland or 
SuDS.  However, these deficiencies need to be balanced against the signifcant overall  provision 
of green infrastructure (GI) within the site includingan overall areas of 14.6 ha whhc will be 
available for  use as Public Open Space.      
  
The Indicative Open Space Strategy plan shows a range of elements that are to be included 
within the GI, although details are limited at this outline stage. The detailed layout of the scheme 
will however provide details of the delivery of  GI requiements, Suds and armenity/childrens play 
space and also  how these elements will co-exist.   
 
In addition,  the provison of  way finders, art trail alongside interactive way finders and 
interpretation/information boards bringing in the local heritage will help to bind the split sites 
together giving the development a unique sense of place will be required to be incorporated into 
the detailed deisgn of the scheme at the Reserved Matters Stage. 
 
A condition is reccmmmended requiring a detailed Strategic Green Infrastructure and Landscape 
Strategy to be submitted with a Reserved  Matters applciation. Furthermore the SuDS/surface 
water drainge scheme will need be considered alongside the strategy to reduce its potemtial 
impact on the proviion of amenity open space.  

Page 45



 
OFFICIAL 

  
A condition is also recommended to require the submission and approval of management plan 
for all areas of POS and landscaping. The provision of a management company to maintain all 
on site open space will be secured through the S106 Agreement. 
 
Outdoor Sport 
 
Policies SC1 and SC2 of the Local Plan Strategy provide a clear development plan policy basis 
to require developments to provide or contribute towards both outdoor and indoor recreation.  In 
particular, Policy SC2 of the CELPS requires major residential developments to contribute, 
through land assembly and / or financial contributions, to new or improved sports facilities where 
development will increase demand and / or there is a recognised shortage in the locality that 
would be exacerbated by the increase in demand arising from the development. 
 
Policy LPS 8 also includes a requirement for the provision of sports pitches as part of the scheme.  
However, as the application site boundary does not include the ‘protected open space’ areas of 
the allocation (LPS 8), and in view of constraints including the sensitivity of heritage assets and 
extensive mitigation planting, off-site sports facilities / pitches is considered appropriate. In 
addition, Sport England considers that the development, “would create a need for a contribution 
to sports facilities. Such a contribution should be secured by a Section 106 Agreement and 
invested in improving sports facilities within the sports catchment of the proposal”. 
 
A Sports Needs Assessment (SNA) was submitted in line with the emerging Playing Pitch and 
Outdoor Sports Strategy which requires all developments over 300 dwellings to produce an 
assessment using Sport England’s Playing Pitch Calculator. 
 
The SNA that identifies the requirement for sporting provision that arises from the new 
development.  This has been undertaken in consultation with CEC, Sport England and relevant 
national governing bodies for sports.  It has also drawn on the Council’s newly adopted Playing 
Pitch and Outdoor Sports Strategy.  The SNA is considered accepatble  and identifies off-site 
financail contributions (total £862,301)  for the funding of new and improved facities for football, 
rugby, hockey and cricket in the Crewe area. 
 
Indoor Sports Facilities  
 
The development will increase the need for local indoor leisure provision and as such a financial 
contribution should be sought towards Crewe Lifestyle and Shavington Leisure Centre being the 
nearest provision.  
  
The Indoor Built Facility Strategy has identified that for Crewe there should be a focus on 
improvement of provision as set out in the Strategy. Whilst new developments should not be 
required to address an existing shortfall of provision, they should ensure that this situation is not 
worsened by ensuring that it fully addresses its own impact in terms of the additional demand for 
indoor leisure provision that it directly gives rise to.  
 
Based on the size of the proposed development and participation rates for Cheshire East a 
contribution of £183,000 has been calculated to be necessary to and ensure health and fitness 
provision will meet increased demand for indoor physical activity. 
   

Page 46



 
OFFICIAL 

For the above reasons the proposal is considered to comply with the open space and sport and 
recreation requirements of LPS 6 and policies SC2 and SE6 of the CELPS. 
 
Public Rights of Way  
 
The development would directly affect Public Footpaths Nos. 10 & 16 Weston as recorded on the 
Definitive Map and Statement, the legal record of Public Rights of Way. 
 
It is proposed to seek closure of the existing level crossings (FP10/Stowford 2 and FP16/ 
Stowford 1) with associated footpath diversions to provide enhanced and safe routes.  This is 
also addressed Network Rail’s safety concerns regarding increased use of the existing level 
crossings.  
 
FP10 is proposed to be diverted to the east over the existing Main Road rail bridge and supported 
by the improved signal-controlled pedestrian and cycle facilities.    
 
It is further proposed that FP16 be diverted via new route within Duchy Land from the junction of 
South Cheshire Way and FP15 at Jack Lane(east) running north parallel to the B5472, utilising 
the existing rail bridge before turning east through development parcel E to rejoin its original route 
to Old Park Road. 
  
Although the Council’s Public Rights of Way Team have not raised objections in principle to the 
proposal, detailed issues relating to the provision of the alterative and diverted routes as well as 
and their specification/design will need to be addressed as part of the layout/design of the Growth 
Village scheme at the reserved matters stage.  Furthermore, the PROW team advise that the 
submission and approval of a Public Path Order application is required to secure the diverted 
routes.     
 
The PROW Team recommends a condition be attached requiring the submission of a Public 
Rights of Way scheme of management. This requires details of the design of PROW within the 
development, proposals for the diversion or extinguishment of any Public Right of Way and any 
proposals for the temporary closure of any Public Rights of Way, along with alternative route 
provision.    
 
Amenity  
 
SADPD Policy HOU 12 (Amenity) states that new development should not be permitted if it is 
deemed to cause unacceptable harm upon neighbouring amenity such as from loss of privacy, 
overbearing impact, or noise and disturbance.   
 
The nearest residential properties to the site are Holly Hedge Farm set in large curtilage off Main 
Road south of the railway bridge, and dwellings of Stowford hamlet on the western side of the 
Growth Village development.   
 
Given the location of residential parcels and the provision of significant areas of intervening 
planting//landscaping as shown on the parameters plans, the required separation distances as 
set  out under SADPD Policy HOU13 (Residential Standards)  will  be achieved between the  
development and existing properties.  As a result, the amenities of existing residents will not be 
detrimentally   impacted in terms of   overbearing impact loss of outlook or privacy.     

Page 47



 
OFFICIAL 

  
Concerns have been raised by the occupants of Holly Hedge Farm in respect of increased traffic 
along Main Road and the position of the site access to parcel W2.   However, the package of 
highway improvements to be delivered on the wider road as set out in highway section of this 
report, including the improvement of the Weston Road/University Way Roundabout, is expected 
to discourage the use of Main Road through Weston Village. in addition, this will also help 
minimise the level of queuing on the southern approach to the new traffic signals on the railway 
bridge.  Whilst a site access from Main Road is located opposite Holly Hedge Farm, this will only 
serve parcel W2 which is a relatively small, lower density area of the growth village scheme.   
Therefore, the resulting impact of vehicular movements along Main Road, or from use of the 
access to Parcel WS would not result in any greater appreciable impact on the amenities  of  
Holly Hedge Farm or other properties in the locality in term of noise, disturbance or visual 
intrusion.  However, the detailed relationship of the development with existing properties will be 
assessed at the reserved stage.     
 
Odour Assessment  
Commercial properties at Crewe Hall Enterprise Park are located in close proximity to the 
northern boundary of the application site. As a result the Environmental Health considered there 
is potential for odours to be caused to future residents of the development from cooking odours 
emanating from nearby industrial premises.   
 
An Odour Assessment has however been submitted in support of the application (ref 4299r1 
dated 15/01/2).  The Environmental Health Officer accepts its findings and conclusion that the 
effect of odour from existing sources is minimal and they do not cause a significant loss of amenity 
to occupiers of properties within the locality.  Therefore, there is no reasonable basis for any 
odour mitigation or abatement methods to be required.  
 
The potential impact from odour from premises at Crewe Hall Enterprises Park will not therefore 
harmful to the residential amenity within the proposed Growth Village development.     
 
Air Quality  
CELPS Policy SE12 states that the Council will seek to ensure all development is located and 
designed so as not to result in a harmful or cumulative impact upon air quality.  This is in 
accordance with paragraph 181 of the NPPF and the Government’s Air Quality Strategy. 
 
Air quality impacts have been considered within the Air Quality Assessment submitted in support 
of the application prepared by Wood Group UK Ltd, dated March 2022 and incorporated within 
the Environmental Statement (ES).   
 
The report considers whether the development will result in increased exposure to airborne 
pollutants, particularly as a result of additional traffic and changes to traffic flows. The assessment 
uses ADMS Roads to model NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 impacts from additional traffic associated 
with this development and the cumulative impact of committed development within the area.   
 
A number of modelled scenarios have been considered within the assessment. These were: 
 

 2018 Baseline year for model verification; 

 2021 Baseline year for reference; 

 Do Minimum 2030 (without South Cheshire Growth Village Development); and 

Page 48



 
OFFICIAL 

 Do Something 2030 (with South Cheshire Growth Village Development). 
 
The assessment concludes that the impact of the future development on the chosen receptors 
will be negligible with regards to all the modelled pollutants. However, the proposed development 
is considered significant in that it is highly likely to change traffic patterns and congestion in the 
area. 
 
A development of this scale and duration would be expected to have an adequate demolition, 
construction and track-out dust control plan implemented to protect sensitive receptors from 
impacts during this stage of the proposal and this is mentioned within the assessment as a form 
of mitigation.  A condition is recommended requiring the submission and implementation of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) which will include measures to mitigate 
environmental impacts during the course of the development.   
 
Environmental Health recommend conditions are imposed to secure the provision of satisfactory 
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure within the development and the provision of ultra-low emission 
boilers to ensure that local air quality is not adversely impacted for existing and future residents. 
 
Noise  
The applicant has submitted an acoustic report which considers the impact of the impact of the 
noise from road / rail traffic and industrial noise on the proposed development in accordance with 
S8233:2014 Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings and BS4142:2014 
Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound.  This is an agreed 
methodology for assessing noise sources of this nature.  
 
The assessment demonstrates that only a small number of dwellings within the scheme are likely 
to require specific mitigation measures, such as appropriate glazing, ventilation and boundary 
treatments to ensure that future occupants of the properties are not adversely affected by noise 
from road/ rail traffic and Industrial Noise. It also advises that good design at the reserved matters 
stage can also help to mitigate any noise impact, such as appropriate building orientation to 
screen rear garden and amenity space. 
 
The Environmental Health Officer has accepted the acoustic reports methodology, conclusion, 
and recommendations.  
 
A condition is recommended to ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the 
proposed mitigation and recommendations of the acoustic report. The proposals accord with 
Policy SE12 of the CELPS as satisfactory mitigation measures can be achieved to minimise and 
mitigate the effects of noise.     
 
The impact of the development upon during the construction phase in terms of noise, as well as 
dust are temporary manifestation of the development process, and as such will be temporary in 
nature.  In this regard and it is considered that a Construction environmental management plan 
(CEMP) can ensure that any such impacts upon existing development are minimised. The 
submission and implementation of a CEMP can be secured by condition. 
 
Subject to the conditions referred to above, the proposal will comply with policy SE12 of the 
CELPS. 
 

Page 49



 
OFFICIAL 

 Education  
 
The development of 650 dwellings at South Cheshire Growth Village (LPS  8) is expected to 
generate: 
 
121 - Primary children (650 x 0.19) (- 3 SEN) 
96 - Secondary children (650 x 0.15) (- 2 SEN) 
8 - SEN children (650 x 0.51 x 0.023%) 
 
Primary contributions have been negotiated on other housing developments located within 
adjacent Local Plan allocation LPS2 (Basford East) to contribute to the new Basford East Primary 
School.   As such, an apportioned amount is being requested from the developer of the Growth 
Village, based on up-to-date costings and the number of children (121) expected to come from 
the development.  
 
The Education Team have updated its consultation response during the course of the application.  
This addressed an error in calculating the primary contribution in not providing an apportioned 
cost of the new school and incorrectly used the normal method of calculating places.   
 
The contribution (primary) set out below is an apportioned amount towards the provision of a 1 
FE primary school, with the necessary infrastructure to support an additional 1 FE.   A feasibility 
(Stage 0) exercise was undertaken which provided a high-level estimate, and this indicated the 
construction of the school will cost upwards of £8,570,900.00.  This figure and the number of 
children coming from the development has determined the primary contribution which has been 
updated during the course of the application.  
 
£8,570,900.00 / 210 (number of pupils in the primary setting) x 121 (number of children expected 

to come from the 22/1447N development) = £4,938,470.95 

The development is expected to impact on secondary school places in the locality. Contributions 
which have been negotiated on other developments are factored into the forecasts both in terms 
of the increased pupil numbers and the increased capacity at secondary schools in the area as 
a result of agreed financial contributions. The analysis undertaken has identified that a shortfall 
of secondary school places still remains.   
 
Special Education provision within Cheshire East Council currently has a shortage of places 
available with at present over 47% of pupils educated outside of the Borough.  The Education 
Team acknowledges that this is an existing concern, and 8 children are expected from the 
development exacerbating the shortfall.   
 
Therefore, to alleviate forecast pressures, the following contributions would be required: 
 
121 x £40,813.81 = £4,938,471.01 (Primary) 
96 x £17,959.00 x 0.91 = £1,568,898.24 (Secondary) 
8 x £50,000 x 0.91 = £364,000 (SEN) 
 
Total education contribution: £6,871,369.25 
 

Page 50



 
OFFICIAL 

Without a secured contribution of £6,871,369.25 Children’s Services would object to this 
application. 
 
Healthcare provision 
 
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) advise that GP practices are operating close to 
capacity and have sought a financial contribution to mitigate the impact of the development which 
would result in an additional 2,000-3,000 patients.  It is advised that the GP Practices within the 
area, have completed utilisation studies on their existing premises, and across the Practices there 
was an average utilisation rate of 98%. The GP Practices are currently unable to hire into both 
clinical and administrative roles and struggle to provide enough clinical sessions per week due 
directly to the constraints of the existing premises.   
 
The CCG therefore objects to the application, unless a financial contribution is secured by a 
Section 106 Agreement towards improvements to the Primary Care Network’s that cover the area 
of Crewe.  In particular improvements have been identified as being required to the following GP 
Practices;      
 

 Eagle Bridge Health and Wellbeing Centre, - Conversion of vacant third floor space into 
clinical and administrative rooms.  This is expected to develop an additional 15 consulting 
room alongside treatment rooms and smaller consultation rooms.    

 Rope Green Medical Centre - This is a relative new building, but internally its configuration is 
not ideal with significant opportunities for redevelopment/reconfiguration of rooms internally 
to allow for additional clinical rooms to be created.   

 Hungerford Road - This is significantly overstretched in terms of capacity and should patient 
flow be significant, the GP Practice would require extension.  

 
A financial contribution is therefore sought as part of this application, which is based on a 
calculation consisting of occupancy x number of units in the development x £360.  This is based 
on guidance provided to other CCG areas by NHS Property Services. 
 

 
 
The healthcare contribution will be calculated once the housing mix determined at the Reserved 
Matters stage. The payment of this contribution will be secured through a S106 Agreement.  
 
Affordable Housing  
 
The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and the Council’s Housing Supplementary 
Planning Document states that, the desired target percentage for affordable housing for all 
allocated sites will be a minimum of 30%, in accordance with the recommendations of the 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment carried out in 2013.  This percentage relates to the 

Page 51



 
OFFICIAL 

provision of both social rented and/or intermediate housing, as appropriate. Normally the Council 
would expect a ratio of 65/35 between social rented and intermediate housing. 

 
This is a proposed development of up to 650 dwellings within allocation LPS 8 and to meet the 
Council’s Policy on Affordable Housing there is a requirement for 195 dwellings to be provided 
as affordable homes. 

 
The CELPS states in Policy SC5 justification paragraph 12.44, ‘The Housing Development Study 
shows that there is the objectively-assessed need for affordable housing for a minimum of 7,100 
dwellings over the plan period, which equates to an average of 355 dwellings per year.’ This is 
for the whole borough of Cheshire East. 

 
In addition, the current number of those on the Cheshire Homechoice waiting list with Crewe and 
Weston as their first choice is 2347. This can be broken down as below; 
  

How many bedrooms do you 
require? 

    

First Choice 1 2 3 4 5 5+ 
Grand 
Total 

Crewe 1088 634 388 124 88   2322 

Weston - Crewe 13 7 5       25 

 
 
There is also still a need for Intermediate units that will cater for those 1st time buyers, those 
making a new household and families who cannot buy on the open market. 

 
The development aims to provide 30 % affordable housing in a ratio of 65/35 between social 
rented and intermediate housing in accordance with Policy SC5. (affordable homes). On this 
basis, 127 units should be provided as affordable/social rent and 68 units as intermediate tenure.  

 
The detailed affordable housing mix will be agreed at the Reserved Matters stage and take 
account of then latest information on identified need information. The Council’s Housing Officer 
does not object to the application. 
 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT   

  
Education (primary/secondary/SEN) provision - £6,871,369.25 to alleviate the forecast pressures 
relating to this site. The triggers for payment are; 50% payable prior to commencement of a 
dwelling on site and the final 50% prior to the occupation of the 325th dwelling (or 50% percentile 
dwelling).    

 
Village Centre - to be provided and ready for use prior to the occupation of the 200th dwelling on 
site.  

  
Affordable Housing - 30% policy compliant provision.  Not more than of 50% of open market 
dwellings (sale/rent) of a phase shall be occupied until all affordable units within that phase have 
been completed and made ready for immediate occupation and use.     

 

Page 52



 
OFFICIAL 

Highways - The traffic impact of the scheme is required to be mitigated through contributions to 
off-site highway improvements as follows;  
 
- £1.083 towards bus services:  50% to be paid on occupation of the 150th Dwelling; 50% on 

occupation of the 325 Dwelling. 

- £150,000 towards Average Speed Cameras or other traffic control measures on the B5472 or 
other traffic management measures or travel plan incentives required in the vicinity of the site.  
This contribution will be payable prior to occupation of 325th unit or delivery of the Main Road / 
B5472 junction alterations. 

- £2.45m towards the B5472 / A500 ‘Meremoor Moss’ roundabout scheme or broader highway 

improvements on the A500 corridor. Payments of 1.45M prior to occupation of 350 units and of 

£1M prior to occupation of 500 units. 

- £1.4M towards improvements at the University Way/Weston Road Roundabout. To be Payable 
prior to occupation of the 150th dwelling unless this has been delivered earlier by the developer 
under the S278 trigger 

 
Healthcare - To meet the need of resident resulting from this large development, improvements 
are required to the infrastructure  of local GP Practices.  The contribution will be calculated using 
the agreed NHS formula once the housing mix is determined at the Reserved Matters stage. 
Triggers for payments are as follows;   
 
-  33% paid at occupation of 100 dwellings  
-  33% paid at occupation of 50% percentile dwelling    
-  Remainder at occupation of 75% percentile dwelling       
 
Outdoor sports- – In accordance with the submitted Sports Needs Assessment (SNA) relating to 
the proposed development, a contribution of £862,301 is required.   50% to be paid at occupation 
of 100 dwellings and the remainder paid at occupation of 325th dwelling (50% percentile dwelling)  

 
  Indoor and outdoor sports facilities - £183,000 to be paid on first occupation   

 
Provision and future management of Green Infrastructure and open space - Provision of all areas 
of heritage mitigation planting /landscaping, POS/incidental open space, children’s play, 
allotments/orchards and ecological areas - to be delivered in accordance with the phasing plan. 
In addition, arrangements for the transfer of these area to a management company for their future 
maintenance are required prior to the occupation of the development.    

  
CIL REGULATIONS   
 
In order to comply with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, it is necessary 
for planning applications with legal agreements to consider the issue of  
whether the requirements within the S106 satisfy the following:  
a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
a) Directly related to the development; and  
c) Fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
It is considered that the contributions required as part of the application are justified meet the 
Council’s requirement for policy compliance.  As set out above, all elements are necessary, 

Page 53



 
OFFICIAL 

directly relate to the development and are fair and reasonable in relation to the scale and kind of 
development.    
 
On this basis the scheme is compliant with the CIL Regulations 2010 
 
CONCLUSIONS  
 
The principle of residential development on the site has been established through its allocation 
within the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) under Policy LPS 8 (South Cheshire 
Growth Village). 
 
This outline application proposes the creation of the South Cheshire Growth Village to deliver a 
sustainable settlement of up to 650 dwellings. It is proposed that a distinctive and high quality 
housing scheme in the form of an “estate“village is sited within an attractive parkland setting in 
line with the requirements of local plan allocation Policy LPS 8.    
 
Policy LPS 8 emphasises the need to incorporate green infrastructure with specific landscape 
mitigation and parkland restoration in accordance with the Heritage Impact Assessment (CEC 
2016) to minimise the visual impact of the development on heritage assets.  Whilst the scheme 
would lead to some harm to heritage assets, proposed mitigation and design coding already 
provided demonstrates that the framework for the development accords with the Heritage Impact 
Assessment and requirements of Policy LPS8 to offset that harm. In particular elements of the 
landscape restoration also constitute public benefit. 

  
Detailed assessments of the urban design and landscape/visual impact of the development have 
been made and although these matters will need to be considered in more detail, an acceptable 
framework is in place to further enhance the scheme at the reserved matters stage, including the 
requirement for detailed design coding which is subject to conditions. The outline proposals are 
therefore supported in design terms. 

 
The impact on the wider highway network from the proposed development will be mitigated 
through financial contributions for improvements to Meremoor Moss roundabout (or within the 
A500 corridor) and alterations to the University Way/Weston Road roundabout.  

 
A suite of indicative drawings and technical information has also been submitted of highway 
improvements to reduce the desirability of the new village as a through-route and reduce traffic 
speed.  This has established the principles of a package of measures which ensure that an 
acceptable scheme is achievable in highway terms, although the detailed design of highway 
alterations will also need to take account urban design and place making objectives at the 
reserved matters stage.    

 
A contribution to bus services will also be secured and the proposals will importantly ensure the 
provision of sustainable pedestrian/cycle link to connect through to the Basford East strategic 
allocation facilitated by the delivery of proposed Signals at Main Road / Weston Road. The 
Highway Officer have raised no objections subject to conditions and substantial Section 106 
contributions.  

  
Given the location of residential parcels and the provision of significant areas of intervening 
planting/landscaping the required separation distances will be achieved between the 

Page 54



 
OFFICIAL 

development and existing properties. The amenities of existing residents will not be detrimentally 
impacted in terms of overbearing impact loss of outlook or privacy, nor as a result of 
noise/disturbance from road traffic movements.  
      
No objections are raised in relation to flood risk/drainage, subject to conditions including the 
submission of the detailed drainage strategy and emphasis on making the most of Sustainable 
Urban Drainage in the detailed design for the scheme. 
 
Ecological issues have been satisfactorily addressed particularly in respect to safeguarding 
habitat, protected species, the provision of on-site ecological mitigation areas and delivery of 
Biodiversity Net Gain subject to a series of planning conditions being imposed. Tree and 
hedgerow losses have been accepted and would be mitigated in the proposed landscaping of 
the site and through off-site habitat creation to achieve biodiversity net gain.   
 
Issues relating noise, air quality, contaminated land and public rights of way have been addressed 
and are subject to conditions where necessary. 
To satisfactorily address the impact on local services/facilities, substantial contributions to 
education, healthcare provision and indoor/outdoor sport will be secured through a S106 
agreement.  

 
The delivery of this large and complex development will be required to be undertaken in 
accordance with a detailed Phasing Plan.  This will ensure that amongst other requirements, the 
provision of green infrastructure, heritage mitigation/planting, pedestrian route to Basford East, 
open space, play facilities, wildlife mitigation and drainage /Suds are delivered at appropriate 
stages of the scheme.      
 
On this basis, the proposal is for sustainable development which would bring environmental, 
economic and social benefits and is therefore considered to be acceptable in the context of the 
relevant policies of the adopted Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy, the Site Allocations 
Development Polices Document and the NPPF. 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
APPROVE Subject to the notification of the Secretary of State, the completion of Section 
106 Agreement to secure;  
 
 

S106 Amount Trigger 

   

Provision of all areas of heritage 
mitigation planting /landscaping, 
POS/incidental open space, 
Children’s play, allotments/ orchards 
and ecological areas to be delivered 
in accordance with phasing plan.     
 
 

  Prior to commencement of 
development   
 
 
 

Education (primary/secondary/SEN) £6,871,369 50% prior to Commencement 

Page 55



 
OFFICIAL 

S106 Amount Trigger 

of a dwelling, then 50% Prior to 
occupation of 325th dwelling (or 
50% percentile dwelling) 

Completion of mixed-use village  
centre of 1000sqm gross floorspace space 
comprising; 
 
- 500sqm local needs retail (Use  
Class E)  
- 500sqm community facilities 
(Use (Use Class F2)   
 
And Village Square 
   

 Prior to occupation of 200th 
dwelling  

Affordable Housing 
 
 

30%  
 
(tenure split  
of 65/35 between social 
rented and  
intermediate housing). 

 
 

Not more than of 50% of open 
market dwellings (sale/rent) of a 
phase shall be occupied until all 
affordable units within that 
phase have been completed 
and made ready for immediate 
occupation and use.     
  

Highway improvement works – 
B5472 / A500 ‘Meremoor Moss’ 
Roundabout scheme or broader  
highway improvements on the A500  
corridor 
 

£2,450,000 £1.45M prior to occupation of 

350 units and £1M prior to 

occupation of 500 units. 

 

Highway improvement works -  
University Way/ Weston Road 

Roundabout  

£1,400.000 Upon occupation of the 150th 
unit (Unless delivered earlier by 
developer under s278)  
 

Highways – Bus Services £1,083000 50% on occupation of the 150th 
Dwelling, then 50% on 
occupation of the 325th 
Dwelling. 
 

Highways – Average Speed Cameras or  
other traffic control measures 
 on the B5472 or other traffic  
management measures or Travel 
Plan incentives  

£150,000 prior to occupation of 325 

properties or delivery of the 

Main Road / B5472 junction 

alterations. 

Page 56



 
OFFICIAL 

S106 Amount Trigger 

Arrangements for transfer to 
management company of all areas 
of planting /landscaping, 
POS/incidental open space 
Childrens’s play space, 
allotments/orchards and ecological 
areas      

 Prior to first occupation of the 
development  

Contribution to outdoor sports  
facilities    

£862,301 - - 50% paid at occupation of 100 
dwellings 

- -  Remainder paid at occupation of 
325 dwellings 
  

NHS Healthcare   
 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS formula 
£504 per 1 bed unit  
£720 per 2 bed unit  
£1,008 per 3 bed unit  
£1,260 per 4 bed unit  
£1,728 per 5 bed unit 

 -  33% paid at occupation of 
100 dwellings  

- - 33% paid at occupation of 50% 
percentile dwelling (325 
dwellings)  

- -  Remainder at occupation of 
75% percentile dwelling (487 
dwellings)   

 Indoor Sport Contribution     £183,000  Prior to 
first occupation of the 
development  
 

 
And the following conditions;  
 
1. Time limit – approval of reserved matters (3 years)   

2. Approval of reserved matters  

3. Approved plans – Location and parameter plans 

4. Development to comply with building Heights and housing density identified on Parameters Plans  

5. Detailed Phasing Plan to be submitted with first reserved matters application  

6. Submission of detailed Character Area Design Codes   

7. All reserved matters applications to comply with the Design Coding.    

8. Each reserved matters application to be supported by a Strategic Green Infrastructure and 

Landscape Strategy   

9. Full details of landscape restoration and mitigation planting to be submitted as part of each 

reserved matters application  

10. Implementation of approved landscaping scheme 

11. Submission of Landscape Management Plan for all areas of POS and landscaping.  

12. Submission of Public Art and Waymarking Strategy as part of Reserved Matters 

application   

13. All Reserved matters applications to be supported by Arboricultural Impact Assessment   

14. Submission Woodland Management Plan   

15. Details of Boundary treatments submitted with all reserved matters applications   

16. Details of levels to be submitted with all reserved matters applications       

Page 57



 
OFFICIAL 

17. Measure to mitigate impact of lighting on heritage assets   

18. Submission and approval of a written scheme of archaeological investigation and a 

programme for post-excavation assessment 

19. Requirement to provide for self-build opportunity on site. 

20. Demonstrate compliance with Nationally Prescribed Space Standards, and accessibility 

and wheelchair housing standards.    

21. The submitted Indicative highway drawings and technical information establish the 

principles for the measures of a Highway Traffic Management Scheme which shall support 

any Reserved Matters application     

22. Provision of bus layby to be implemented before the occupation of 50 dwellings. 23.  

Detailed scheme of street lighting to be approved prior to delivery of any of the highway 

improvements.  

23. Provision of Cycleway link to the Basford East site including the delivery of the Signals at 

Main Road/Weston Road prior to the occupation of any dwellings 

24. Prior to the delivery of the Weston Road/ Main Road signals the approved improvement 

scheme to the Weston Road/University Way Roundabout Junction shall be completed and 

available for use. 

25. Details for the provision of a 5 space parking ‘drop off’ facility prior to the occupation of any 

properties within development Parcel W2  

26. Approval of Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for each phase  

27. Submission of a comprehensive travel plan framework for the site prior to first occupation.    

28. Submission of a Residential Travel Plan prior to the occupation of any phase  

29. Submission of details of minimum parapet height on B5472 railway bridge prior to 

provision of cycleways. 

30. Submission of a detailed scheme for the widening of Old Park Road to 6.0m  

31. Submission of site wide green infrastructure strategy, including habitat creation method 

statement, 30-year monitoring & management plan and method statement for the control 

of non-native invasive plant species, to reflect habitat creation and enhancement targets in 

the submitted BNG metrics. 

32. Retention of all existing ponds on site as part of the detailed design at reserved matters 

stage. 

33. Details of the specification of proposed lighting (bat friendly). 

34. Submission of updated great crested newt, otter, bat and badger survey/assessment and 

mitigation strategy to be submitted in support of any future reserved matters application.   

35. Any reserved matters application for development parcels ‘W1’, ‘W2’ and ‘S’ to be 

supported by an updated reptile survey/assessment and mitigation and compensation 

strategy to include the provision of a 2m buffer adjacent to the railway corridor   

36. Submission of ecological enhancement proposals (bat and bird boxes etc.) with each 

reserved matters application. 

37. Safeguarding of nesting birds 

38. Submission of a detailed drainage strategy which prevents the loss or degradation of restorable 

peat   

39. Submission of a Construction Environmental Management Plan to address impacts on bird species 

of Sandbach Flashes SSSI and their supporting habitat.   

40. Scheme for the provision and management of an 8 metre wide undeveloped buffer zone 

alongside the main river 

Page 58



 
OFFICIAL 

41. No development shall take place until a detailed drainage strategy and updated FRA for the site 

has been submitted and approved   

42. Submission of details of proposed attenuation pond(s) and basins  

43. CCTV survey of the existing drainage network. 

44. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk 

assessment and mitigation measures detailed  

45.  Submission of a detailed Foul and Surface Water Drainage Scheme for the entire site and 

for each phase of the development.     

46.   Opening hours for retail and community uses within local centre    

47. Waste management strategy and bin storage arrangements    

48. Details for the provision of cycle storage   

49. Noise mitigation measures to be support any reserved matters application     

50. Provision of Electric Vehicle infrastructure  

51. Provision of Ultra Low Emission Boilers 

52. Prior to commencement of development submission of Phase II ground investigation and 

risk assessment and remediation strategy if necessary.   

53. Contaminated land - Verification report  

54. Contaminated land – soil testing  

55. Measures to deal with unexpected contamination 

56. Submission of Public rights of way scheme of management 

57. Removal of Permitted Development Rights   

58. Establishment of Community Liaison Group    

 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Strategic Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
 
 

Page 59



 
OFFICIAL 

 
 

 

P
age 60



 

 

22/1447N 

Land adjoining Old Park Road, 

Weston Road, Main Road and 

the B5472, Near Stowford, 

Crewe 

P
age 61



Pond

Hollyhedge

59.6m

Cattle Grid

Farm

B

r

o

o

k

E

n

g

l
e

s

e

a

T
r
a
c
k

63.2m

El Sub Sta

64.3m

Bank

Laggers

Lees Wood

57.7m

T

r

a

c

k

The Cottage

Crewehall Farm

Tank

Cottage

Smithy

2

2

 

2

3

W

a

l
n

u

t

 

T

r

e

e

 

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

MP 7.0

MP 0.75

MP 0.5

Laggers Bank

Lees Wood

T

r

a

c

k

T

r
a

c

k

60.9m

D

r

a

i
n

Cattle Grid

P

a

t
h

 
(

u

m

)

Issues

Pond

O

a

k

 

T

r

e

e

M

a

g

n

o

l
i
a

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

58.5m

C

o

t
t
a

g

e

Stowford

E

l

m

B

e

e

c

h

 

T

r

e

e

S

t

o

w

f

o

r

d

 

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

T

r

e

e

Cattle Grid

The Old Smithy

C

o

t

t

a

g

e

Pond

Carters

Green

El Sub Sta

Cattle Grid

T

r

a

c

k

Farm

57.9m

Cattle

1

2

Meremoor Cottages

Grid

Lodge

Golden

Gate

Drain

Pond

D

r

a

i
n

Pond

Forge

The

T

h

e

 

H

a

y

l

o

f

t

Crewe

Farm

Hall

Pond

Oak House

El Sub Sta

1
9

2

4

The

T

h

e

 

S

m

i

t

h

y

Dairy

The Dove Cote

56.1m

Pond

56.1m

D

r

a

i

n

Cattle Grid

Stowford Lodge

B

5

4

7

2

 
 
 
W

e

s

t

o

n

 
R

o

a

d

M

a
i
n

 
R

o
a
d

O

l
d

 
P

a

r
k

 
R

o

a

d

O

l

d

 

P

a

r

k

 

R

o

a

d

B

5

4

7

2

R
ailw

ay lin
e

353500

353000

3
7
3
0
0
0

3
7
3
5
0
0

3
7
4
0
0
0

Key

Site boundary (39.2 ha)

Area not part of application

H
:
\
P

r
o

j
e
c
t
s
\
4
1
0
4
7
 
S
o

u
t
h

 
C

h
e
s
h

i
r
e
 
G

r
o

w
t
h

 
V

i
l
l
a
g

e
\
5
 
D

e
s
i
g

n
\
D

r
a
w

i
n

g
s
\
A

c
a
d

\
4
1
0
4
7
-
W

O
O

D
-
X

X
-
X

X
-
F
G

-
Z

-
0
0
0
2
_
S
2
_
P

0
2
.
d

w
g

 
 
 
 
O

r
i
g

i
n

a
t
o

r
:
 
V

I
C

K
I
.
S
M

I
T
H

March 2022

South Cheshire Growth Village

Outline Planning Application

Figure 1

Site boundary plan

N

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.

Scale 1:4000 @ A3

0 m 200 m100 m

41047-WOOD-XX-XX-FG-Z-0002_S2_P02

P
age 62



 

OFFICIAL 

PROTECTED 

OPEN SPACE 

0 0.15 0.3 
km 

 ¯ Green Belt 

South Cheshire Growth Village Site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 63



Hollyhedge
Farm

Old Park Road

Weston Road

M
ain Road

B5472

Old Park R
oad

N1

N2

C

W1

W2

E

S

Key

Site boundary (39.2 ha)
X:

\U
K\

GB
W

W
K3

00
-W

AR
\s

ha
re

d\
Pr

oj
ec

ts
\4

10
47

 S
ou

th
 C

he
sh

ire
 G

ro
w

th
 V

ill
ag

e\
5 

D
es

ig
n\

D
ra

w
in

gs
\A

ca
d\

41
04

7-
W

O
O

D
-X

X-
XX

-F
G-

A-
00

22
_S

2_
P0

2.
dw

g 
   

O
rig

in
at

or
: U

KM
RR

77
5

January 2024

South Cheshire Growth Village
Outline Planning Application

Land Use Parameters Plan

N

Scale 1:4000 @ A3

0 m 200 m100 m

41047-WOOD-XX-XX-FG-A-0022_S2_P02

Village centre location (mixed use and
residential)

Village focal space

Residential 18.1 ha

Green Infrastructure (including landscaping,
sustainable drainage and open space) 18.8 ha

Areas to incorporate Historic Parkland
Restoration Measures

Community food growing area

Play Area (Indicative Locations)

Roads (Existing) - 2.3 ha

New public realm creation (within existing
highway boundary)

Basford East Pedestrian/Cycle link
(Indicative Location)

Access points for detailed approval

Indicative access points

N1: Northern parcel 1
N2: Northern parcel 2
E: Eastern parcel
C: Central parcel
S: Southern parcel
W1: Western parcel 1
W2: Western parcel 2

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776

P
age 64

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
59.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Englesea

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
63.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
64.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Laggers

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Lees Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
57.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
The Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Crewehall Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
22 23

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
Walnut Tree Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
MP 7.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
MP 0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
MP 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Laggers Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Lees Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
60.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Oak Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
Magnolia

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
58.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Stowford

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Elm

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Beech Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Stowford Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
The Old Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Carters

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
57.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Cattle

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Meremoor Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Golden

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
Forge

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
The Hayloft

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Crewe

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Oak House

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
The Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Dairy

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
The Dove Cote

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
56.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
56.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
Stowford Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
Jack Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
Crewe Hall 

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Enterprise Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
Crewe Hall 

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
Carters Green 

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Crewe Hall Farm



Hollyhedge
Farm

Old Park Road

Weston Road

M
ain Road

B5472

Old Park R
oad

N1

N2

C

W1

W2

E

S

Key

Site boundary (39.2 ha)
X:

\U
K\

GB
W

W
K3

00
-W

AR
\s

ha
re

d\
Pr

oj
ec

ts
\4

10
47

 S
ou

th
 C

he
sh

ire
 G

ro
w

th
 V

ill
ag

e\
5 

D
es

ig
n\

D
ra

w
in

gs
\A

ca
d\

41
04

7-
W

O
O

D
-X

X-
XX

-F
G-

A-
00

23
_S

2_
P0

2.
dw

g 
   

O
rig

in
at

or
: U

KM
RR

77
5

January 2024

South Cheshire Growth Village
Outline Planning Application

Density and Building Heights
Parameters Plan

N

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776

Scale 1:4000 @ A3

0 m 200 m100 m

41047-WOOD-XX-XX-FG-A-0023_S2_P02

N1: Northern parcel 1
N2: Northern parcel 2
E: Eastern parcel
C: Central parcel
S: Southern parcel
W1: Western parcel 1
W2: Western parcel 2

Typical density and building heights:

Higher density:
Up to 60 dph,
maximum 3 storeys

Medium density:
Up to 35 dph,
maximum 2.5 storeys

Lower density:
Up to 30 dph,
maximum 2 storeys

Key lower density edges:

20-25 dph and maximum 2 storey

25-30 dph and maxmium 2 storey

Development Parcel ID:

P
age 65

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
59.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
Englesea

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
63.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
64.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
Laggers

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Lees Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
57.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
The Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Crewehall Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
22 23

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
Walnut Tree Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
MP 7.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
MP 0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
MP 0.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
Laggers Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
Lees Wood

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
60.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
Oak Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
Magnolia

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
58.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
Stowford

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
Elm

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
Beech Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
Stowford Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
The Old Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
Carters

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
57.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
Cattle

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
Meremoor Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
Golden

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
Forge

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
The Hayloft

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
Crewe

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
Oak House

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
The Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
Dairy

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
The Dove Cote

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
56.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
56.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
Stowford Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
Jack Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
Crewe Hall 

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
Enterprise Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
Crewe Hall 

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
Carters Green 

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
Crewe Hall Farm



   January 2024

30

© WSP UK Limited

Figure 5.1 Illustrative Masterplan

P
age 66



   January 2024

33

© WSP UK Limited

Figure 5.5 Placemaking Structuring Plan

Market square and enhanced public realm 

Focal Building

Public Art

Key lower density edges & frontage
 
Signature frontage (village heart)
  
Key residential frontage 

Traffic calming and enhanced rural character

Retained views and vistas

P
age 67



   January 2024

34

© WSP UK Limited

Figure 5.9 Street Hierarchy Structuring Plan

Existing roads subject to re-design

Streets

Lanes / Shared Surface

Private Drive

Parking Court

Village Centre enhanced public realm

P
age 68



   January 2024

36

© WSP UK Limited

Figure	5.11	Character	Areas	Structuring	Plan

Village centre 

Parkland

Rural edge

P
age 69



SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

B5472

B5472

3.2

3.2004

3.2000

3.2000

3.2000

7.3251

7.4323

7.3905

3.7247

4.0981

4.3764

4.9298

5.3904

5.4466

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footways to connect into Site

3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway along the existing bridge

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle
footway to connect into Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

2.4 x 66m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

5,5

R
6

R6

3,27

DO NOT SCALE

APPROVED:

DRAWING No:

PROJECT No:

SCALE @ A3:

TITLE:

PROJECT:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DATE:

REV:

ARCHITECT:

CLIENT:

DRAWING STATUS:

Fi
le

 n
am

e 
\\C

O
R

P
.P

B
W

A
N

.N
E

T\
G

LB
-E

&
I\U

K
\G

B
W

W
K

30
0-

W
A

R
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\4

10
47

 S
O

U
TH

 C
H

E
S

H
IR

E
 G

R
O

W
TH

 V
IL

LA
G

E
\5

 D
E

S
IG

N
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\A
C

A
D

\4
10

47
-W

S
P

-X
X

-X
X

-D
R

-O
T-

00
06

_S
0_

P
03

_C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
.D

W
G

, p
rin

te
d 

on
 1

0 
Ju

ly
 2

02
4 

16
:0

6:
05

, b
y 

B
or

ow
ie

c,
 K

ac
pe

r

DRAWN:

WSP UK Ltdc

41047

41047-WSP-XX-XX-DR-OT-0006_S0 P04

SOUTH CHESHIRE GROWTH VILLAGE

BLOOR HOMES

WSP UK

1:1000 BC BC

AG 10/04/24KB

B5472 TRAFFIC CALMING SCHEME

SHEET 6 OF 8

S0 - ILLUSTRATIVE

Existing

Proposed road markings

High friction surfacing

Cobbled Surface

Key

Paved Surface

P
age 70

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
MP 0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
64.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
64.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
63.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
61.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
62.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
62.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
61.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
62.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
62.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
62.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
62.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
61.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
61.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
64.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
64.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
64.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
64.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
65.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
65.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
65.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
65.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
65.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
65.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
65.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
65.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
65.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
65.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
65.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
65.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
65.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
65.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
65.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
64.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
64.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
64.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
64.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
65.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
65.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
65.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
65.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
65.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
65.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
65.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
65.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
65.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
65.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
65.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
64.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
FS1

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
SE8

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
SE9

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
P02

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
10/07/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
KB

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
FIRST ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
BC

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
BC



SLOW

OLD PARK ROAD

OLD PARK ROAD

OLD PARK ROAD

OLD PARK ROAD

Footway to
connect into Site

Shared pedestrian/cycle footway to
connect to Site

Road widened to achieve 5.5m
carriageway

Road widened to achieve 5.5m
carriageway

Potential 3m wide shared
pedestrian/cycle footway to connect into
Site

Potential 3m wide shared
pedestrian/cycle footway to connect
into Site

Potential 3m wide shared
pedestrian/cycle footway to connect into
Site

Carriageway narrowing in form of build

out with give-way on the western side

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

5,
5

2

2
R

6

R6

R6

R
6

5,
5

DO NOT SCALE

APPROVED:

DRAWING No:

PROJECT No:

SCALE @ A3:

TITLE:

PROJECT:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DATE:

REV:

ARCHITECT:

CLIENT:

DRAWING STATUS:

Fi
le

 n
am

e 
\\C

O
R

P
.P

B
W

A
N

.N
E

T\
G

LB
-E

&
I\U

K
\G

B
W

W
K

30
0-

W
A

R
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\4

10
47

 S
O

U
TH

 C
H

E
S

H
IR

E
 G

R
O

W
TH

 V
IL

LA
G

E
\5

 D
E

S
IG

N
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\A
C

A
D

\4
10

47
-W

S
P

-X
X

-X
X

-D
R

-O
T-

00
06

_S
0_

P
03

_C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
.D

W
G

, p
rin

te
d 

on
 1

0 
Ju

ly
 2

02
4 

16
:0

5:
12

, b
y 

B
or

ow
ie

c,
 K

ac
pe

r

DRAWN:

WSP UK Ltdc

41047

41047-WSP-XX-XX-DR-OT-0006_S0 P05

SOUTH CHESHIRE GROWTH VILLAGE

BLOOR HOMES

WSP UK

1:1000 BC BC

AG 10/04/24KB

OLD PARK ROAD IMPROVEMENTS

& SITE ACCESS ROADS

SHEET 5 OF 8

S0 - ILLUSTRATIVE

Existing

Proposed road markings

High friction surfacing

Cobbled Surface

Key

Paved Surface

P
age 71

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
The Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
63.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
63.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
63.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
61.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
61.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
61.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
61.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
60.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
60.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
59.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
59.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
59.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
59.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
60.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
59.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
59.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
60.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
60.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
60.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
60.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
60.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
60.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
60.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
60.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
60.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
61.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
61.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
61.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
61.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
61.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
61.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
61.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
61.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
61.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
61.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
61.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
61.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
61.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
62.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
62.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
62.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
61.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
59.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
59.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
59.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
59.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
EL69.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
EL68.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
EL68.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
EL68.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
EL67.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
RL69.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
RL70.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
RL71.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
61.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
61.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
61.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
64.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
64.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
63.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
63.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
63.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
63.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
62.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
59.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
59.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
59.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
62.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
62.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
61.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
61.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
61.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
61.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
61.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
62.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
62.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
63.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
63.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
63.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
63.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
64.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
64.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
64.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
64.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
61.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
61.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
62.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
62.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
62.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
62.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
62.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
62.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
63.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
62.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
SE4

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
SE5A

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
SE6

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
SE7

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
SE5

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
P02

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
10/07/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
KB

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
FIRST ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
BC

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
BC



SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

WESTON ROAD

WESTON ROAD

M
AIN

 RO
AD

WESTON ROAD

Right turn lane extended further to the

northwest

Kerb line adjusted to providefor the right turn pocket

Pedestrian refuge relocated

from existing location

3.7247

4.0981

4.3764

4.9298

5.3904

5.4466

BUSSTOP

Provision of right turn lane at

Main Road

Provision of tactile paving on

both sides of the carriageway

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footways to connect into Site

Formerly proposed five in-line paring

bays to be transformed into a bus lay-by

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle
footway to connect into Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footways to connect into Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Proposed bus stop bypass for cyclists to

avoid conflict with bus passengers

Provision of 3m wide

two-way cycle lane

Provision of 3m wide raised table
pedestrian and cycle crossing

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

7.8% gradient over

15m length

3,0

3
,0

6
,0

3,0

3,0

3,0

R6

R
7

5,11

R
10

R10

R
6

R
6

5
,5

2

2

2

5,5

3
,0

R
6

R
6

3
,0

3
,3

4

3
,5

3

1
,5

2
,9

8

3,27

DO NOT SCALE

APPROVED:

DRAWING No:

PROJECT No:

SCALE @ A3:

TITLE:

PROJECT:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DATE:

REV:

ARCHITECT:

CLIENT:

DRAWING STATUS:

Fi
le

 n
am

e 
\\C

O
R

P
.P

B
W

A
N

.N
E

T\
G

LB
-E

&
I\U

K
\G

B
W

W
K

30
0-

W
A

R
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\4

10
47

 S
O

U
TH

 C
H

E
S

H
IR

E
 G

R
O

W
TH

 V
IL

LA
G

E
\5

 D
E

S
IG

N
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\A
C

A
D

\4
10

47
-W

S
P

-X
X

-X
X

-D
R

-O
T-

00
06

_S
0_

P
03

_C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
.D

W
G

, p
rin

te
d 

on
 1

0 
Ju

ly
 2

02
4 

16
:0

7:
39

, b
y 

B
or

ow
ie

c,
 K

ac
pe

r

DRAWN:

WSP UK Ltdc

41047

41047-WSP-XX-XX-DR-OT-0006_S0 P04

SOUTH CHESHIRE GROWTH VILLAGE

BLOOR HOMES

WSP UK

NOT TO SCALE BC BC

AG 10/04/24KB

WESTON ROAD/MAIN ROAD SIGNAL SCHEME

SHEET 8 OF 8

S0 - ILLUSTRATIVE

Existing

Proposed road markings

High friction surfacing

Cobbled Surface

Key

Paved Surface

P
age 72

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
Hollyhedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
Oak Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
The Old Smithy

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
Walnut Tree Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
Magnolia

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
Beech Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
Elm

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
Stowford Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
MP 0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
Stowford

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
62.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
62.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
62.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
62.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
62.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
61.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
61.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
61.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
60.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
63.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
63.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
58.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
59.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
59.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
60.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
60.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
60.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
61.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
61.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
61.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
61.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
61.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
61.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
61.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
61.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
61.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
61.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
61.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
61.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
61.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
61.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
61.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
61.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
60.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
60.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
59.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
60.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
60.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
60.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
62.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
62.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
62.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
62.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
62.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
62.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
61.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
62.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
62.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
61.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
61.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
61.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
61.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
61.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
61.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
61.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
61.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
61.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
61.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
61.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
61.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
61.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
61.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
61.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
61.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
61.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
61.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
61.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
60.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
60.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
60.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
61.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
61.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
61.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
60.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
60.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
61.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
60.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
60.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
60.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
60.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
58.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
58.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
58.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
58.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
59.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
60.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
62.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
62.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
62.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
62.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
62.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
61.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
61.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
60.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
61.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
60.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
61.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
61.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
61.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
60.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
60.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
60.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
61.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
61.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
61.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
61.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
62.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
62.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
62.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
60.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
60.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
61.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
61.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
62.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
62.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
62.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
62.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
59.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
58.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
58.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
58.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
58.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
58.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
60.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
61.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
59.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
EL63.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
RL67.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
63.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
63.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
63.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
63.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
63.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
63.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
63.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
63.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
61.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
61.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
63.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
63.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
63.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
63.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
63.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
63.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
62.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
62.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
62.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
62.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
62.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
62.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
61.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
62.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
63.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
63.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
63.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
63.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
63.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
63.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
65.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
EL62.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
EL64.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
RL69.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
EL62.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
EL64.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
RL67.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
64.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
64.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
64.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
64.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
FS1

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
SE3

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
SE3_PEG

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
SE3A

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
SE8

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
P02

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
10/07/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
KB

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
FIRST ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
BC

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
BC



SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

B5472

WESTON ROAD

3.2

3.2004

7.3905

3.7247

4.0981

4.3764

4.9298

5.3904

5.4466

BUSSTOP

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footways to connect into Site

Formerly proposed five in-line paring

bays to be transformed into a bus lay-by

3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway along the existing bridge

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle
footway to connect into Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway to connect into the Site

Proposed bus stop bypass for cyclists to

avoid conflict with bus passengers

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

5,5

3
,0

R6

R
6

3
,0

1
,5

2
,9

8

3,27

SLOW

SLOW

BUSSTOP

Formerly proposed five in-line paring

bays to be transformed into a bus lay-by

footway to connect into the Site

Proposed bus stop bypass for cyclists to

avoid conflict with bus passengers

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

1
,5

2
,9

8

3,27

SLOW

3.2

3.2004

7.3905

DO NOT SCALE

APPROVED:

DRAWING No:

PROJECT No:

SCALE @ A3:

TITLE:

PROJECT:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DATE:

REV:

ARCHITECT:

CLIENT:

DRAWING STATUS:

Fi
le

 n
am

e 
\\C

O
R

P
.P

B
W

A
N

.N
E

T\
G

LB
-E

&
I\U

K
\G

B
W

W
K

30
0-

W
A

R
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\4

10
47

 S
O

U
TH

 C
H

E
S

H
IR

E
 G

R
O

W
TH

 V
IL

LA
G

E
\5

 D
E

S
IG

N
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\A
C

A
D

\4
10

47
-W

S
P

-X
X

-X
X

-D
R

-O
T-

00
06

_S
0_

P
03

_C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
.D

W
G

, p
rin

te
d 

on
 1

0 
Ju

ly
 2

02
4 

16
:0

3:
24

, b
y 

B
or

ow
ie

c,
 K

ac
pe

r

DRAWN:

WSP UK Ltdc

41047

41047-WSP-XX-XX-DR-OT-0006_S0 P04

SOUTH CHESHIRE GROWTH VILLAGE

BLOOR HOMES

WSP UK

VARIES BC BC

AG 10/04/24KB

OLD PARK ROAD/WESTON ROAD ROUNDABOUT

& B5472 SPEED REINFORCEMENT IMPROVEMENTS

SHEET 3 OF 8

S0 - ILLUSTRATIVE

Existing

Proposed road markings

High friction surfacing

Cobbled Surface

Key

Paved Surface

P
age 73

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
MP 0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
64.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
64.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
63.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
61.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
61.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
61.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
60.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
60.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
59.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
60.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
60.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
60.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
62.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
62.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
62.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
62.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
62.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
62.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
61.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
62.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
62.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
61.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
61.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
61.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
61.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
61.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
61.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
61.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
61.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
61.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
60.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
58.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
58.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
59.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
63.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
62.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
62.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
62.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
62.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
63.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
63.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
63.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
63.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
63.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
65.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
65.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
65.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
65.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
65.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
65.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
65.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
65.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
65.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
65.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
65.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
65.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
65.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
65.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
65.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
65.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
65.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
65.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
64.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
FS1

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
SE3_PEG

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
SE8

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
SE9

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
62.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
62.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
62.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
62.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
62.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
62.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
61.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
61.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
61.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
61.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
61.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
63.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
63.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
SE3_PEG

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
65.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
65.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
65.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
65.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
SE9

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
P02

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
10/07/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
KB

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
FIRST ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
BC

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
BC



SLOW

SLOW

SLOW

B5472

B5472

B5472

B5472

3.2039

3.2

3.2004

3.2000

3.2000

3.2000

3.2000

3.2004

3.2000

7.3055

7.3251

7.4323

7.3905

7.3127

3.0543

Potential 3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footways to connect into Site

3m wide shared pedestrian/cycle

footway along the existing bridge

2.4 x 66m visibility splay

2.4 x 43m visibility splay

5,5

R
6

R6

3.0543

DO NOT SCALE

APPROVED:

DRAWING No:

PROJECT No:

SCALE @ A3:

TITLE:

PROJECT:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

DATE:

REV:

ARCHITECT:

CLIENT:

DRAWING STATUS:

Fi
le

 n
am

e 
\\C

O
R

P
.P

B
W

A
N

.N
E

T\
G

LB
-E

&
I\U

K
\G

B
W

W
K

30
0-

W
A

R
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\4

10
47

 S
O

U
TH

 C
H

E
S

H
IR

E
 G

R
O

W
TH

 V
IL

LA
G

E
\5

 D
E

S
IG

N
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\A
C

A
D

\4
10

47
-W

S
P

-X
X

-X
X

-D
R

-O
T-

00
06

_S
0_

P
03

_C
O

M
B

IN
E

D
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
.D

W
G

, p
rin

te
d 

on
 1

0 
Ju

ly
 2

02
4 

16
:0

6:
56

, b
y 

B
or

ow
ie

c,
 K

ac
pe

r

DRAWN:

WSP UK Ltdc

41047

41047-WSP-XX-XX-DR-OT-0006_S0 P04

SOUTH CHESHIRE GROWTH VILLAGE

BLOOR HOMES

WSP UK

NOT TO SCALE BC BC

AG 10/04/24KB

B5472 TRAFFIC CALMING SCHEME

SHEET 7 OF 8

S0 - ILLUSTRATIVE

Existing

Proposed road markings

High friction surfacing

Cobbled Surface

Key

Paved Surface

P
age 74

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
Carters

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
Meremoor Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
Cedar Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
Palm Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
JACK LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
MP 0.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
62.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
62.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
62.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
62.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
61.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
61.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
60.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
60.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
64.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
64.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
64.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
63.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
63.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
63.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
63.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
62.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
62.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
63.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
63.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
62.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
63.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
63.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
63.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
63.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
63.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
63.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
63.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
62.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
63.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
63.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
63.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
62.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
62.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
62.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
61.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
62.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
62.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
62.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
62.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
61.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
61.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
63.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
63.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
63.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
64.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
64.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
64.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
64.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
64.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
IC

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
65.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
65.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
65.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
65.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
65.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
61.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
61.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
60.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
60.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
62.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
62.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
62.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
62.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
62.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
62.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
62.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
62.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
63.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
63.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
63.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
65.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
65.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
65.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
65.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
65.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
65.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
65.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
65.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
65.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
65.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
TREE CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
64.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
64.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
64.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
64.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
65.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
65.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
65.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
65.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
65.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
65.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
65.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
65.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
65.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
65.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
65.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
65.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
63.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
62.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
62.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
62.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
62.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
62.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
62.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
62.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
62.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
SE10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
SE11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
SE12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
SE13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
SE14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
SE9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
62.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
REV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
BY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
CHK

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
APP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
P02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
10/07/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
KB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
FIRST ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
BC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
BC



Document is Restricted

Page 75 Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 22/1447N - Land adjoining Old Park Road, Weston Road, Main Road and the B5472, Near Stowford, Crewe
	22 1447N - Key Plans
	Key Plans 22 1447N
	FRONT SHEET 22 1447N
	Red Line - Location Plan
	Sheets and Views
	41047-WOOD-XX-XX-FG-Z-0002_S2_P02-Site boundary


	South Cheshire Growth Village Site
	Land Use Parameter Plan
	Sheets and Views
	A3


	Density & Building Heights Parameter Plan
	Sheets and Views
	A3


	Illustrative Masterplan

	Placemaking Structuring Plan
	Street Hierarchy Structuring Plan
	Key Plans 22 1447N
	Figure 5.11 Character Areas Structuring Plan
	B5472 Traffic Calming Scheme
	Improvements & Site Access
	Weston Rd-Main Rd Signal Scedule

	OLD PARK RD-WESTON RD ROUNDABOUT
	B5472 Traffic Calming Scheme


	7 Appeal: Planning Application 21/3100M Land East of Longridge, Knutsford



